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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and conselidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our
report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs).

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2016, the Group did not recognize in the
consolidated income statement an amount of LL 126,682 million in gains realized from certain transactions on
financial instruments with the Central Bank of Lebanon. The Group recognized this amount under “Deferred
revenues” within “Other liabilities” in compliance with Central Bank of Lebanon's Intermediate Circular number
446 dated 30 December 2016. Furthermore, as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded excess provisions amounting to LL 102,480 million under “Provisions for risks and charges” in
arder to comply with the provisioning requirements of Central Bank of Lebanon’s Intermediate Circular number 439
dated 8 Movember 2016. The Group's accounting for the above-mentioned transactions departs from the
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Had the Group properly accounted for these
transactions, events and conditions, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the effects on
the consolidated financial statements would have been as follows:

¢ Netincome for the year ended 31 December 2016 would have increased by LL 229,162 million through an
increase in “Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” by LL 108,392 million,
an increase in “MNet gain from sale of financial assets at amortized cost™ by LL 40,692 million, a decrease in

“Provisions for risks and charges” by LL 102,480 million and an increase in “Income tax expense” by LL
22,402 million;

s  Total liabilities as at 31 December 2016 would have decreased by LL 229,162 million, through a decrease
in “Deferred revenues™ (reflected under “Other habilities™) by LL 126,682 million and a decrease in
“Provisions for risks and charges” by LL 102 480 million; and

¢  Equity as at 31 December 2016 would have increased, through an increase in net income, by LL 229,162
million,

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our reporl. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Fthics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Acconntanis (IESBA Code) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Lebanon, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Other Information Included in the Group's 2016 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group's 2016 Annual Report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Management is responsible for the other
information. The Group’s 2016 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’
report,

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not CXpress
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the conselidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to the audit committee and we will exercise professional judgement to deterinine whether we
need to take appropriate action to seek to have the uncorrected misstatement appropriately brought to the attention of
users for whom the auditors’ report is prepared.

As described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section above, the Group did not recognize certain gains and
recorded excess provisions for risks and charges in the consolidated income statement. When we read the Annual
Report, we will consider whether the other information included in the Annual Report is also materially misstated for
these matters. If we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter
to the audit committee and we will exercise professional judgement to determine whether we need to take
appropriate action to seek to have the uncorrected misstatement appropriately brought to the attention of users for
whom the auditors’ report is prepared.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit maters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the vear ended 31 December 2016. In addition to the matter deseribed in the
“Basis for Qualified Opinion™ section of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit marters to be communicated in our report. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Awditors ' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our qualified audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Tmpairment of Loans and Advances

Due to the inherently judgemental nature of the computation of impairment provisions for loans and advances, there
i5 a risk that the amount of impairment may be misstated. The impairment of loans and advances is estimated by
management through the application of judgement and the use of subjective assumptions. Due to the significance of
loans and advances and related estimation uncertainty, this is considered a key audit risk. The corporate loan
portfolio generally comprises larger loans that are monitored individually by management. The assessment of loan
loss impairment is therefore based on management’s knowledge of each individual borrower. This includes the
analysis of the financial performance of the borrower, historic experience when assessing the likelihood of incurred
losses in the portfolios and the adequacy of collateral for secure lending. However, consumer loans generally comprise
much smaller value loans to a much greater number of customers. Provisions are not calculated on an individual
basis, but are determined by grouping by product into homogeneous portfolios. The portfolios are then monitored
through delinguency statistics, which drive the assessment of loan loss provision,
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

fmpairment of Loans and Advances (continwed)
The risks outlined above were addressed by us as follows:

o For corporate customers, we tested the key controls over the credit grading process, to assess if the risk
grades allocated to the counterparties were appropriate. We then performed detailed credit assessment of all
loans in excess of a defined threshold and loans in excess of a lower threshold in the watch list category and
impaired category together with a selection of other loans.

¢ Where impairment allowance was calculated on a collective basis for performing corporate loans, we tested
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying loan information used in the impairment model by
agreeing details to the Group’s source systems as well as re-performing the caleulation of the modelled
impairment allowances. For the key assumptions in the model, we assessed whether those assumptions were
appropriate in the circumstances.

*  For consumer leans, specific and collective impairment allowances are calculated using a simple model,
which are based on a percentage of repavments due but not vet paid. We understood and critically assessed
the model used and checked that no undue changes had been made in model parameters and assumptions,
We tested the completeness and accuracy of data from underlying systems that is used in this model. We
also re-performed the calculation of the modelled impainment allowanee,

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs, and for such intermal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal contral.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an apinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management,

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, o modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit, We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards,

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication,

The partners in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Nazih Borghol for Emst &
Young and Antoine Gholam for BDO, Semaan, Gholam & Co.

P ]
(s / (%m
Ernst & Young BD&.;?emaan, olarh & Co,

31 March 2017
Beirut, Lebanon



Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

MNET INTEREST INCOME

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Met gain from financial insiruments at fair value through profit or loss

Met pain from sale of financial assets at amortized cost

Dividend income from financial assets at fair valoe through other
comprehensive income

Other operaling income

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

Net credit gains (losses)
Impairment losses on financial investments

NET OPERATING INCOME

Personnel expenses

(her operating expenses

Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortization of intangibles assels
[mpairment of goodwill

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

OPERATING PROFIT

Provisions for risks and charges
Foreign currency translation losses on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Net gain on disposal of property and equipmem

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense
FROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Artributable 1o
Equity halders of the parent
Mon-controlling interests

Earnings per share

Equity shareholders of the parent:
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earings per share

Notes

8
9

17

(1
15

The attached notes 1 to 54 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

2016 2015

LE milfion LL millicn
1,545,922 1,489,087
(1,176,124) (1,102,771
369,798 386,316
134,122 134,515
{12,515) {12.564)
121,607 121,951
79,970 67,443
417,699 86,939
4,413 4,383
27,803 20,935
1,021,290 687,967
8,915 {47,908)
(49,676) =
980,539 640,059
(195,787) {180,792)
(145,474) {139,187)
(22,425) {23,466)
(113) (159}
{12,427) :
{376,226) (343,604)
604,313 205,455
(102,480) .
{137,890) E
1 65
363,954 296,320
(114,719) (53,083)
249,135 243437
232,671 228,185
16,563 15,252
249,235 243,437
if i

327.12 31918
310.18 30321

5



Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the vear ended 31 December 2016

Nares
FROFIT FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
frems to be reclassified to the income statenent in subsequent periods:

Exchange difference on translalion of foreign operations

MNet other comprehensive loss to be reclassified ta the income statement in
subsequent periods

Fiemns not to be reclassified to the litcome statement in subsequent periods:
Met unrealized loss from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income 44
Income tax effect 44

Re-measurement (losses) gains on defined benefit plans M a)

Net other comprehensive (loss) income nof to be reclassified 1o the income
statement in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET QOF TAX
Attributable to:

Equity helders of the parent
Mom-controlling interests

The attached notes 1 to 54 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

2016 2015

LL miifion LL million
249,235 243,437
(68,161) (41,114)
{68,161) (41,114)
(1,306) (503)

194 75
(1,112) (428)
(99) 474
(1,211) 46
(69,372)  (41,068)
179,863 202,369
190,591 198,746
(10,728) 3,623
179,863 202,369

G



Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2016

2016 205
Noses LE mititon LL millton
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 1% 8,783,092 7,236,217
[ue from banks and financial institutions it} 1657429 2518365
Leans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements 21 964,066 1,097 047
Financial assets given as collateral 22 124,044 1,405
Denvative financial instruments 23 4,420 1,844
Financial assets at fair value through profic or loss 24 780,172 295 8435
Net loans and advances to customers at amaortized cost 25 7,787,275 7,399 641
Net loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost 46 0,714 352735
Debtors by acceptances 121,883 244,705
Financial assets at amortized cost 24 9,416,979 10,516,514
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive incoms 27 101,305 100,907
Property and equipment 28 147,095 255,125
Intangihle assels 29 350 493
Assets obtained in settement of deht i 43,299 42,006
Onher assels 11 110,438 108,001
TOTAL ASSETS 31,373,501 29954 410
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
[hee to central banks 32 332971 117412
[rse to banks and financial institutions i3 774095 744,554
Derivative financial instruments 23 2,106 2445
Customers' deposits at amortized cost 34 254156304 24,654,398
[Xposits from related parties at amortized cost 16 366,027 425,749
Dbt issued and other borrowed funds 35 444,072 445,199
Enzgagements by acceptances 223,583 244,705
Other liabilities 36 J0EL3 147,567
Prowvisions for rizks and charges 37 275,390 171,538
Subordinated debt 38 420,165 417400
TOTAL LIABILITIES 14654156 37370947
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PAREXT
Share capital = common shares 9 684,273 684,273
Share capital - preferred shares 19 4,840 4,840
Share premium — common shares 39 229014 229014
Share premium — preferred shares L S91083 501,083
Mon distributable reserves 40 B30 815884
Distributable reserves 41 103,246 o9.211
Treasury shares 41 (5,161} (6,807}
Retained eamings 67,518 fil 832
Revaluation reserve of real estate 43 5,689 5689
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 44 (9.081) (7961}
Met results of the financial pericd — profit 132,672 228,185
Foreign curmency translation reserve (65.341) (193 842)
1,682,072 2,511,401
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 37,363 T2,042
TOTAL EQUITY 1,719 435 2583443

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3.373.591 19954 410

The consalidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directars

on 31 March 2007 by,

Semawefiaiy/ 7 Ziad EI Zoghbi
Chﬂirma Head of Finance and Administration
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the yvear ended 31 December 2016

Nofes
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Preafit before tax
Adjustments 10 reconeile profit before 1ax to net cash flows:
Depreciztion and amortisation B& 29
{Write-back of pronision) provision for loans and advances and direen write offs, et 14
(Write-back of provision) provigion for balances with central banks, net 14
Write-back of provision for finareial aesets at amerized cou, nel 14
Gain on disposal of property and equipmen
Gain on disposal of aisets oblained in setilement of debt 13
Prowisions for risks and charges, net
Uneealized fair value kesses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Realized gains from financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Impairment losses on financial investments
[mpairment of goodwill
Foreign currency translation kosses on deconselidation of wibsidiaries

[ R

Operating profit before working capital changes

Changes in operating assets and Labilities
[ from central banks
Drue to central banks
Drue from banks and financial instinaions
Finangial assets given as collateral
Financial assets at fair value through prafit or loss
Due to banks ard finzrcial institetons
Net loans and advances o customers and related partics
Ascets obtained in seftlement of debe 30
Proceeds from sale of assers obtained in sentlement of debt
Other assels
Customers’ and related panties” deposits
Other lizbilities

Cash {uzed in) from operations
Provision for ritks ard charges paid n
Tamation paid

MNed cavh (used in} from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at fair value through ather comprehensive income

Loans o barks and finzncisl institutions and reverse repurchase agreaments

Purchase of property and equipment 28
Procesds from ssle of property and equipment

Hetcash outflow from deconsolidation of subsidiaries 2
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 5
Net cash from used in) Investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Drebts issued and other bormowed funds

Subwrdinated debt

Treasury shares

Dividends paid 1o equity holders of the parent 53
Dividends paid to non-contrelling interests

Acquisition of additional non-contralling interests 5

Net cash wsed in financing activitics

INCREASE (DECREASE] IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Het effect of foreign exchangs

Cash and cash equivalents at | January

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER a5
Operaticnal cash Mows from Interest and dividends

Intzrest pad

Interest received
Dividerd recerved

The attached notes 1 to 54 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

246 2fs
LI millign LE mitlion
363,954 296,520
22,538 23,625
(7.7 13,859
{1.578) 15,620
- (1,571)
{11} (65
(4,003 {856)
129,710 23,066
3727 5,200
(397,821) (86,588
(2,953) 1,889
19,676 “
12,427 -
137,850 4
306,119 316,599
(1,563,261} {508,137}
116,518 42,453
(1,832) & 566
{222,639) 5,600
{516,138} (145,714
61,285 {17,252
(316,465} (321,579
(2,836) (5,784)
5,679 1,311
(17,357 (4,898)
516,361 1,389,545
234,869 417
(L9073 730487
(3,487} 13,325)
(54,374 (65,042}
{1,348,602) E71,080
1,721,849 (167,885
(1.0%6) 13,715
420,841 (386,418)
(35,011} 45,972)
mn 233
(132,565 i
{83,599
1,854,796 (603,757)
{1,127y (188
2,765 2810
1,528 (384
(161,060} {161,103)
(3,153) 15,508)
{1,851) 3
(162,908) {164,373
379,286 (97,040}
(58,374) (33.572)
4,766,200 1506512
5,087,112 4765 300
(1,168,296) (1,102,999}
1,566,521 1474227
549 4,956

9



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Byhlos Bank SAL (the “Bank™), a Lebanese joint stock company, was incorporated in 1961 and registered under
Mo 141350 at the commercial registry of Beirut and under Mo 39 on the banks” list published by the Central Bank
of Lebanon. The Bank's head office is located in Ashrafieh, Elias Sarkis Street, Beirut, Lebanon. The Bank's
shares are listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange and London SEAG.

The Bank, together with its affiliated banks and subsidiaries (collectively the “Group™), provides a wide range of
banking and insurance services, through its headquarters and branches in Lebanon and 9 locations abroad
(Cyprus, Belgium, United Kingdom, France, Syria, Sudan, Iraq, Democratic Republic of Congo and Armenia).
Further information on the Group's structure is provided in note 4.

Effective 31 December 2016, the Group deconsolidated Byblos Bank Syria 8.A. and Byblos Bank Africa since it
na longer meets the accounting criteria for consoelidation,

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for: a) the restatement
of certain tangible real estate properties in Lebanon according to the provisions of law No 282 dated 30
December 1993, and b) the measurement al Gair value of derivative financial instruments, financial assels at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and otherwise
carried at amortised cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair value atiributable to the risks that are being
hedged.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL) and all values are rounded to the
nearest LL million except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the regulations of the
Central Bank of Lebanon and the Banking Contral Commission (“BCC™),

Presentation of financial statements

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liguidity. An analysis regarding
recovery or settlement within one year after the statement of financial position date {current) and more than ane
vear after the statement of financial position date (non-current) is presented in the notes.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are oftset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position only in the ordinary course of business, in the event of default, in the event of insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group and/or its counterpartics or when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and setle the liability
simultaneously without being contingent on a future event. Only gross setilement mechanisms with features that
eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk and that process receivables and payables in a single
settlement process or eyele would be, in eflect, equivalent 1o net settlement. This is not generally the case with
master nelting agreements, therefore the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Income and expense will not be offset in the consolidated income statement
unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as specilically disclosed in the
accounting policies of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE C{'JNS(S-L.H}AT-ED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2016, Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, 1o variable returns from its
involvement with the invesiee and has the ability to aftect those returns through its power over the investee,
Specifically, the Group controls an investee ifand only i the Group has:

#  Power over the investee (i.e. exisling rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities

of the investee),
#  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its invalvement with the investee, and
#  The ability 10 use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voling rights resulls in control. However, under individual
circumstances, the Group may still exercise control with less than 30% shareholding or may not be able 1o
exercise control even with ownership over 50% of an entity’s shares. When assessing whether it has power over
an invesiee and therefore controls the variability of its returns, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances, including:

# The purpose and design of the investee,

#  The relevant activities and how decisions about those activitics are made and whether the Group can
direct those activities,

# Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rights, and

#  Whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, o variable returns from its involvement with the investee,
and has the power to affect the variability of such returns

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumsiances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control, Cansolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains contral over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses contral of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the vear are included in the statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases o coniral the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjusiments areé made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation,

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned by the
Group. The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests in acquirees at the proportionate share of
each acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Interests in the equity of subsidiaries not attributable to the Group are
reported in consolidated equity as non-controlling interests, Profits or losses atiributable o non-controlling
interests are reported in the consolidated income statement as profit or loss atiributable to non-controlling
interests. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling
interest even if doing so causes the non-controlling interest to have a deficit balance

The Group treats transactions with non-contrelling interests as transactions with equity holders of the Group, For
purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carryving value of net asseis of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals 1o
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Put optiens granted to non-controlling interests give rise to a financial lability for the present value of the
redemptlion amount. Non-controlling interest continues 1o be recognised within equity, with changes in the
carrying amounting arising from: a) an allocation of the profit or loss far the year; b) a share of changes in
appropriate reserves; and ¢) dividends declared before the end of the reporting period. At the end of each
reporting period, the non-controlling interest is then derecognised as if it was acquired at that date. The liability
is recognised at the end of the reporting peried at its fair value, and any difference between the amount of non-
controlling interest derccognised and this liahility is accounted for within equity,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation {continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equily
transaction. If the Group loses contral over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liakilities, non-controlling interest and other companents of equity, while any resullant gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of contral.

Deconselidation of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria

The subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria, which is 59.87% owned by the Group, is engaged in commercial banking
aclivitics, mainly deposits taking and loan granting. in Syria. Starting March 2011, Syria has witnessed an
extremely violent and erippling civil war between the regime and various opposition groups in different parts of
the country. The war has turned into a humanitarian disaster resulting in Syria being ranked number one on the
list of the most dangerous countries in the world. In addition, this has led several international bodies and
countries (e.g. EU and USA) to set and implement several sanctions and restrictions on dealing with Syria,

The Syrian pound has lost at least 90% of its value against the US Dallar since 2011, The Syrian government has
maintained currency controls and has created exchange mechanisms, which have become extremely illiquid over
time, resulling in an other-than-temporary lack of exchangeability between the Syrian Pound and US Dallar. The
supply of foreign currencies in the market remains structurally well below demand and there are no obvious
limits as to how low the Syrian currency can fall,

Sanctions and the war, combined with the lack of exchangeability between the Syrian Pound and US Dollar, have
significantly aflected Syria’s financial system. Banks are largely isolated from the international banking market,
being shut-off from the international payment and settlement systems, as well as the credit markets, There was a
major flight of deposits as Syrians have reallocated to safer assets, Syria’s economy has contracted considerably
in real terms since 2011, which has significantly affected the demand for credit facilities and the investment
oppartunities available for banks inside Syria. Banks are unable to repatriate funds outside the country and end up
placing their funds in non-income generating assets, with the Central Bank of Syria and other loval commercial or
state-owned banks, The negative evolution of the macroeconomic situation limited the Groups ability to
effectively manage the subsidiary. In addition, regulatory restrictions, such as foreign exchange controls, import
authorization control, interest rales controls, and foreign currency credit facilities controls, have added to the
limitations already existing on the significant activities of banks, preventing further the Group from developing
and implementing decisions on the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Recently issued regulations requiring
board meetings to be held in the Syrian territory and attended by the board members in person have also
significantly impacted the Group's ability to attend the meetings and make and execute key operational and
tinancial decisions regarding its Syrian operations.

As a result of these factors, which are expected to continue for the foreseeable future, effective 31 December
2016, the Group concluded that it no Jonger met the accounting eriteria for consolidation of its Syrian subsidiary
due to a loss of control, and therefore it deconsolidated its Syrian subsidiary effective as of 31 December 2016,
The Group has determined the fair value of its investment in its Syrian subsidiary to be insignificant based on its
expectations of dividend payments in future periods.

The deconsolidation of the subsidiary resulled in the recognition of a negative impact on the consolidated income
statement for the year 2016, in the amount of LL 144,504 million, which includes:

- negative impact of LL 107,282 million deriving from losses from the translation into Lebanese Lira of
the financial statements of the subsidiary previously recognized under equity and reclassified w the
consolidated income statement; and

- negative impact of L1 37,222 million due to the full-write off of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria uwpon deconsolidation amounted to
LL 93,783 million.

As a consequence of the deconsolidation, effective 1 January 2017, the Group shall no longer include the results
of the Syrian subsidiary in its consolidated financial statements. Furlher, dividends and inter-bank interest will be
recorded as income and expense upon receipt or payment. The Group will monitor the extent of its ability to
control its Syrian operations as its current situation in Syria may change over time and lead to consolidation at a
future date,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Deconsolidation of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa

The subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa, which is 36.86% owned by the Group, is engaged in commercial banking
activities, mainly deposits taking and loan granting, in Sudan. Sudan, one of the largest and most geographically
diverse siates in Africa, gained independence on the first of January 1936, Since then, the country has
experienced alternating forms of democratic and awthoritarian governments. Cross-border violence, political
instability, poor infrastructure, weak property rights, and corruption has led several international bodies and
countries {e.g. ELl and LISA) to set and implement several sanctions and restrictions on dealing with Sudan, In
addition, the business environmem of the country has been trapped by business regulations that inhibit
registration and a rigid labor market that discourages formal hiring and Sudan was ranked as a repressed cconomy
by Heritage Foundation.

The Sudanese Pound has lost at least 84% of its value against the US Dollar since 2011, when South Sudan
seceded, taking with it three-guarters of the country’s oil output, the main source of foreign currency used to
support the Sudanese pound and to pay for food and other imports. Low foreign exchange reserves resulted in
illiquid foreign currency marketls and other-than-temporary lack of exchangeability between the Sudanese Pound
and US Dollar. The official exchange rate was 100% below the parallel black market rate.

As a result of these factors, which are expeeted to continue for the foreseeable future, effective 31 December
20186, the Group concluded that it no longer met the accounting criteria for consolidation of its Sudanese
subsidiary due to a loss of control, and therefore it deconsolidated its Sudanese subsidiary effective as of 31
December 2016, The Group has determined the fair value of its investment in its Sudanese subsidiary to be
insignificant based on its expectations of dividend payments in future periods.

The deconsolidation of the subsidiary resulted in the recognition of a negative impact on the consolidated income
statement for the year 2016, in the amount of LL 43,062 million, which includes:

- negative impact of LL 30,608 million deriving from losses from the translation into Lebanese Lira of the
financial statements of the subsidiary previously recognized under equity and reclassified 1o the
consolidated income statement; and

- negative impact of LL 12,4354 million due to the full-write off of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Cash and cash equivalemts of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa upon deconsolidation amounted to
LL 36,782 million.

As a consequence of the deconsolidation, effective 1 January 2017, the Group shall no longer include the resulis
of the Sudanese subsidiary in its consolidated financial statements. Further, dividends and inter-bank interest will
be recorded as income and expense upon receipt or payment, The Group will monitor the extent of its ability to
contral its Sudanese operations as its current situation in Sudan may change over time and lead to consolidation at
a future date.

23 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended standards and interpretations
The Group applied for the first time cerlain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2006,

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject o rate-regulation, 10 continue
applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-time
adoption of IFRS. Entities that adopt [FRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items
on the statement of financial position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in
the statement of profit or loss and OCI. The standard requires disclosure of the nature of, and risks associated
with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. IFRS 14 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Since the Group is an existing 1FRS preparer
and is not involved in any rate-regulated activities, this standard does not apply.
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) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests

I'he amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint
operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constituies a business, must apply the relevant 1FRS 3
Business Combinations principles for business combination accounting. The amendments also clarify that a
previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the
same joint operation if joint control is retained, In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 w
specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity,
are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition
of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joinl operation
and are prospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption
permitted. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a
joint operation during the year.

Amendments to IAS 16 and [AS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in LAS 16 Property, Plamt and Equipment and 1AS 38 forangible Assets
that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the
asset is a part) rather than the economic benefts that are consumed through use of the asset, As a result, a
revenue-based methoed cannot be used wo depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very
limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are elfective prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after | January 2016, with early adoplion permitted. These amendments do not have any
impact o the Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based method 1o depreciate its noncurrent
assels.

Amendments to IAS 16 and [AS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of bearer
plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the delinition of bearer plants will no longer be within
the scope of IAS 41 dgricufture, Instead, 1AS 16 will apply, After initial recognition, bearer plants will be
measured under 1AS 16 at aceumulated cost (before maturity) and wsing cither the cost medel or revaluation
madel (after maturity). The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer planis will remain in the
scope of IAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants, 1AS 20
Acconniing for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance will apply. The amendments are
retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted.
These amendments do not have any impaet 1o the Group as the Group does not have any bearer planis.,

Amendments to 1AS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method o account for investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in their separate financial statemenis. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to
change o the equity method in their separate financial statements will have to apply that change retrospectively,
First-time adopters of IFRS electing 1o use the equity method in their separate financial statements will he
required to apply this methed from the date of transition to IFRS, The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments do not have any
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle
These improvements are effective for annual pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2016, They include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assels Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets {or disposal groups) are generally disposed of cither through sale or distribution 10 owners, The
amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a
new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the
application of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment must be applied prospectively. These amendments do
not have any impact on the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(i) Servicing conlracts:

The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing invelvement in a
financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for
continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of
which servicing eontracts constitule continuing involvement must be done retrospectively, However, the required
disclosures would not need to be provided for any period beginning betore the annual peried in which the entity
first applies the amendments,

{ii) Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements;

The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial
statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent
annual report. This amendment must be applied retrospectively.

These amendiments do not have any impact on the Group.

1AS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendment clarifies that market depih of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in
which the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no
deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. This
amendment must be applied prospectively. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group.

1AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must cither be in the interim financial statements or
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within
the interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report}, The other information within the
interim financial report must be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the
same time. This amendment must be applied retrospectively. These amendments do net have any impact on the
Group.

Amendments to IAS | Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to 1AS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing [AS 1 requirements, The amendments
clarify:

* The materiality requirements in [AS |

= That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position may
be disaggregated

« That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes 1o financial statements

+ That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented
in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified o profit or loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCL These amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments do not
have any impact on the Group,

Amendments to IFRS 10, 1IFRS 12 and 1AS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under [FRS 10
Consofidated Financigl Starements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemplion from presenting
consclidated financial statements applies o a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 elarify
that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an invesiment entity itself and that provides support
services to the invesiment entity is consolidated. All other subsidieries of an investiment enlity ar¢ measured at
fair value. The amendments to 1AS 28 favestments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when
applving the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the invesiment entity associate or
joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries. These amendments must be applicd retrospectively and are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with carly adoption permitted, These amendments do not
have any impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the conselidation exception.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
24 Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they
become effective,

TFRS 9 Finaneial Instrinments

In July 2014, the [ASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the
financial insiruments project and replaces 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all
previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment, and hedge aceounting. In prior years the Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2011) which includes the
requirements for the classification and measurement. IFRS 9 is elfective for annual periods beginning on or afier
I January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, bul comparative
information is not compulsery. The adoption of IFRS 9 will have an elfect on measuring impairment allowances
and on the classification and measurement of the Group's financial assets, but no impact on the classification and
measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities, The Group is eurrently assessing the impact of IFRS 9 and plans
tor adopt the new standard on the required effective date,

IFRS 15 Revenne from Contracis with Customers

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step mode! that will apply to revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expeets to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles
in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach 1o measuring and recognising revenue. The new revenue standard
is applicable to all entitics and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a
full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with
early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new
standard on the required effective date.

TFRS 16 Leases

The TASB issued the new standard for accounting for leases in January 2016, The new standard does not
significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require lessees to recognise most
leases on their balance sheets as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use assets. Lessees must apply a
single model for all recognised leases, but will have the option not 1o recognise *short term” leases and leases of
‘low-value” assets. Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leases will be similar to today’s
finance lease accounting, with interest and deprecition expense recognised separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Early application is permitted provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied
on the same date. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16
and plans wo adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

FAS 12 Incomte Taxes

The amendments clarify the following recognition of a deferred tax asset it the loss is unrealized is allowed, if
certain conditions are met, and that the bottom line of the tax return is not the “future taxable profit for the
recognition test. The IASE amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on
debt instruments measured at fair value. The current approach of using the expeeted botlom line on the tax return
- i.e. fulure taxable income less tax-deductible expenses, will no longer be appropriate instead the taxable income
belore the deduction will be used, to avoid double counting. Fither a full or moditied retrospective application is
required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janvary 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of [AS 12 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
24 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 7 Stterment af Cash Flows

The amendments issued introduce additional disclosure requirements intended 1o address investors’ concerns as
currently they are not able to understand the management of an entity’s financing activities, require disclosure of
information enabling users to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes, do not prescribe a specific format for disclosures but
indicates that we can fulfil the requirement by providing a reconciliation between opening and closing balances
for liahilities arising from financing activities, and are also applicable to financial assels that hedge liabilities
arising from financing activities. Either a full or madilied retrospective application is required for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of IAS 7 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

.5 Summary of significant accounting policices

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira which is the Bank’s presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation,

{8} Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group's entities at the functional currency spot
rate of exchange ruling at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate
of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position. All differences are taken to “Net gain {loss) from
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement,

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-manetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on retranslation of non-monetary items is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair valve gain or loss is recognized in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognized in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
respectively).

{id) Group companies

On censalidation, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and overseas branches are translated into the Bank's
presentation currency at the rate of exchange as at the reporting date, and their income statements are translated
at the weighted average exchange rates for the vear. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly
to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in
equity refating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to the consolidated income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the earrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operations and translated at closing rate.

Financial instruments —classification and measurement

{i} Date of recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes “regular way trades™: purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assels within the time frame generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting paolicies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measurement (continued)

fii) Classification and measiurement of financial instruments
il. Financial assets

The classification of financial assets depends on the basis of the entity's business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Assets are initially measured
at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, particular transaction
cos15, Assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value,

An entity may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at fair value through
profit or loss if doing se eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
(sometimes referred to as an ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assels or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on difterent bases. An entity is required to disclose such
financial assels separately from those mandatorily measured at fair value,

Financiol assels af amortized cosf

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at amorlized cost less any impairment loss (except for debt
instruments thal are designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition) if they meet the
tollowing two conditions:

*  The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contraciual
cash flows; and

* The contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding.

These financial assets are initially recognized al cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed 1o the acquisition are also included in the
cost of investment. Afler initial measurement, these financial assels are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method (EIR), less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is caleulated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The amortization is included in “Interest and similar income™ in the consolidated income statement.
The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated income statement in “Net credit Josses™,

Although the objective of an entity’s business model may be to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, the entity need not hold all of those instruments until maturity. Thus an entity's business model can
be 1o held financial assets to collect contractual cash flows even when sales of financial assets oceur. However,
if more than an infrequent number of sales are made out of a portfolio, the entity needs to assess whether and
how such sales are consistent with an objective of collecting contractual cash flows. I the objective of the entity's
business model for managing those financial assets changes, the entity is required to reclassify financial assets,

Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets measured al amortised cost are reflected under
“Met gain (loss) from sale of financial assets at amortized cost™ in the consolidated income statement.

Balances with central banks, due from banks and financial instiintions, loans to hanks and financial instittions
and loans and advances to customers and related parties — at amortized cost

After initial measurement, “Balances with central banks™, “Due from banks and financial instiwtions™, “Loans 1o
banks and financial institutions” and “Loans and advances to customers and related parties” are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR. less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is caleulated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
amortisation is included in *Interest and similar income” in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising
from impairment are recognised in the consolidated income statement in “Met credit losses™,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measurement {(continued)

{ii) Classification and measurement af financiol instruments (comtined)
i, Financial assets feontinned)

Financiol assels af folr valtue through profit or loss

Included in this category are those debt instruments that do ot meet the conditions in “ar amoriized cost™ above,
debi instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition and equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss.

i Debt instraments o fair value throngh profit or loss
These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in
fair value and interest income are recorded under “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss” in the consolidated income statement showing separately, those related 1o financial assets
designated at fair value upon initial recognition from those mandatorily measured at fair value,

Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss are also
reflected under “MNet gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated
income statement showing separately, those related to linancial assets designated at fair value upon initial
recognition from those mandatorily measured at fair value,

it Equity insiruments ai fair value through profit or foss
Investments in equity instruments are classified at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group designates at
initial recognition an investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated siatement of financial position at fair value. Changes in
fair value and dividend income are recorded under “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement.

Giains and losses arising from the derecognition of equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss are also
reflected under *“Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated
income statement,

Fivanecial assels aof folr value through other comprehensive income
Investments in equity instruments designated at initial recognition as not held for rading are classified at fair
value through other comprehensive income,

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, Subsequently, they are measured
al fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to the consolidated income
statement on disposal of the investments,

Dividends on these invesiments are recognized under “Revenues from financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income™ in the consolidated income statement when the entity’s right to receive payment of
dividend is established in accordance with IAS 18: “Revenue”, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measurement (continued)

fif) Classification ard measirement of financial instruments (continged)

b Financial liabilities
Liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial liahility not at fair value through
profit or loss, particular transaction costs. Liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value,

The Group classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest

method, except for:

- financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including derivatives);

- financial liahilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach applies.

- financial gouarantee contracts and commitments o provide a loan at a below-market interest rate which after
initial recognition are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with TAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amoertisation recognised in accordance with TAS 18 Revenue.

Fair value option

An enlity may, at inilial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through

profit or loss when:

- doing so results in more relevant information, becavse it either eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as ‘an accounting mismatch') that would
olherwise arise from measuring assels or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on difterent
bases; or

- a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the entity’s key management personnel,

The amount of changes in fair value of a financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss at initial
recognition that is atiributable to changes in credit risk of that liability is recognized in other comprehensive
income, unless such recognition would create an accounting mismatch in the consolidated income statement,
Changes in fair value atiributable to changes in credit risk are not reclassified to consolidated income statement.

Debt issved and ather barvawed funds and subordinated debt

Financial instruments issued by the Group, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are
classified as liabilities under “Debt issued and other bormowed funds”, where the substance of the contractual
arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the
holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of own equity shares.

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently measured al amortised cost using
the elfective interest rate method. Amortised cost is caleulated by taking into account any discount or prémium on
the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measurement {continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial insfriments (continned)
b. Financial labilities fcontinned)

Dby isswed and ather borrowed funds and subordinated debt fcontinued)

A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the
issue date. A portion of the net proceeds of the instrument is allocated to the debt component on the date of issue
based on its fair value (which is generally determined based on the quoted market prices for similar debt
instruments). The equity component is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the
instrument as a whole the amount separately determined for the debt component. The value of any derivative

features (such as a call option) embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the equity component
is included in the debt component.

Diie to ceniral hanks, dise to barks and financial insiiitions, customers ' deposits and related pariies deposits
Adter initial measurement, due to central banks, due to banks and financial institutions, customers” and related
parties’ deposils are measured at amortised cost less amounts repaid vsing the effective interest rate method.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate method,

c Derivatives recorded af falr value through profit or loss
The Group uses derivatives such as interest rate swaps and futures, credit default swaps, cross currency swaps,
forward foreign exchange contracts and options on interest rates, foreign currencics and equities.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when
their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in “Net gain (loss) from
finaneial instruments at fair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
{a) the hybrid contract contains a host that is not an asset within the scope of [FRS 9
(b) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host
{€) a scparate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and
{(d) the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or [oss

{eid) Day 1 profit or loss

When the transaction price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same
instrument or based on a valuation technigue whose variables include only data from observable markets, the
Group immediately recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value {a “Dav 1" profit or
loss) in the conselidated income statement. In cases where fair value is determined using data which is not
abservable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the consolidated
income statement when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognized.

fiv) Reclassification of financiaf assets

The Group reclassifies financial assets if the objective of the business model for managing those financial assets
changes, Such changes are expected to be very inlrequent. Such changes are determined by the Group's senior
management as a result of external or internal changes when significant to the Group’s operations and
demonstrable to external parties.




Byblos Bank SAL - B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments —classification and measurement (continued)

fiv} Reclassification of firanclal assels fcontinned)

It financial assels are reclassified, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date,
which is the first day of the first reporting peried following the change in business model that results in the
reclassification of linancial assets, Any previously recognised gains, losses or interest are not restated,

If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at fair value, its fair value is determined at the
reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a differenee between the previous carryving amount and fair
value is recognised in profit or loss. If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at amoriised cost, its
fair value at the reclassification date becomes ils new carrving amount.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

i) Financiaf assefs
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognized when:

®  The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,

®  The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash Mows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through®
arrangement; and either:
P The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
»  The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
assel, but has transferred control of the asset,

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the assel, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the
assel. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liahility are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained,

Continuing invaolvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original camying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

{ii) Financiol Habititfes

A financial liability is derecagnized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires,
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially moditied, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrving
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognized in the consolidated income
slatement.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements o repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, The corresponding cash received is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as
an asset with a corresponding obligation 1o return it, including accrued interest as a liability within “Due to banks
and financial institutions”, reflecting the transaciion’s economic substances as a loan o the Group, The
difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the
agreement using the EIR. When the counterparly has the right 1o sell or repledge the securitics, the Group
reclassifies those securitics in its statement of financial position to “Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss pledged as collateral™ as appropriate.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
15 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements (continued)

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest is recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position within “Due [rom banks and financial institutions and reverse
repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Group. The difference
between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in “Net interest income™ and is accrued over the life of the
agreement using the EIR.

Il securities purchased under agreement 1o resell are subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to return the
securities is recorded as a short sale within “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss™ and measured
al fair value with any gains or losses included in “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives, and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, at fair value at each balance sheet
date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are diselosed in the notes.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

p In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

g In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liahility,
assuming that market participants act in their cconomic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes inte account a market participant's ability o generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it w another market participant that
woltld use the asset in its highest and best use,

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufticient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use ol
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurenent as a whole:

# Level | — Quoted {unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

# Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 1o the fair value
measurement is direcily or indireetly observable

# Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant o the fair value

measurament 15 unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the
lowest tevel input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Group's management determines the policics and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement,
such as unquoted financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in
discontinued operation.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement {continued)

Al each reporting date, the management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are
required o be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the
management verifies the major inpuis applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation
computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of asseis and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above,

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assels is deemed o be impaired if, and
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has eccurred afier the
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event™) and that loss event {or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, the probability that they will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganization
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, and where observable data indicates that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaulis,

fi) Fimancial assefs carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assels that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future expected credit losses that have not yel been incurred). The carmrving amount of the asset 15 reduced
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated income
statement.

Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of fulure recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transterred to the Group. If, in a subsequent vear, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an evenl occurring after the impairment was
recognised; the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. 1f a future write-ofl is later recovered, the recovery is eredited o the "Net credit losses™ in the
consolidated income statement.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate. The caleulation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs of oblaining and
selling the collateral, whether or not the foreclosure is probahle,
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Financial assefs carried ot amortised cost feontined)

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group's
internal credit grading svstem, that considers credit risk characteristies such as assel type, indusiry, geographical
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors.

Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on
the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group,
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the
historical period that do not exist carrently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in related
observable data from vear to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, properly prices, commodity prices,
payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude). The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly o reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience,

{fi) Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Group secks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been
renegoliated any impairment is measured wsing the original effective interest rate as calculated before the
modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. The loans continue 1o be subject to an
individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

fifi) Collateral repossessed

The Group occasionally acquires properties in settlement of loans and advances. Upon initial recognition, those
assels are measured at fair value as approved by the regulatory authorities, Subsequently these properties are
measured at the lower of carrying value or net realisable value.

Upon sale of repossessed assels, any gain or loss realized is recognized in the consolidated income statement
under “Other operating income™ or “Other operating expenses”. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed
assets are transferred to “Reserves for capital increase™ in the following financial year.

Hedge accounting

The Group makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures (o interest rate, foreign currency and credit
risks. including exposures arising from forecast transactions and firm commitments. In order to manage particular
risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified criteria,

AL inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge
and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

Al each hedge elfectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected to be highly effective on a
prospective basis and demonstrate that it was effective (retrospective eftectiveness) for the designated period in
order to quality for hedge accounting. A formal assessment is undertaken to ensure the hedging instrument is
expected 1o be highly effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item, both at inception and at each
quarter end on an ongoing basis. A hedge is expecied 1o be highly eflective if the changes in fair value or cash
flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated are expected to offset in
a range of B0% o 125% and are expected to achieve such offset in future periods. Hedge ineffectiveness is
recagnized in the consolidated income statement in “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or less”. For situations where that hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Group also assesses
whether the transaction is highly probable and presens an exposure 1o variations in cash flows that could
ultimately affect the consolidated income statement.
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1.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Hedge accounting (continued)

(i} Fair value hedges

For designated and qualifying fair value hedges, the cumulative change in the fair value of @ hedging derivative is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss™. Meanwhile, the cumulative change in the Fair value of the hedged item attributable to the
risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item in the consolidated statement of financial
pasition and is also recognised in “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss®
in the consolidated income statement.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, the hedge relationship is discontinued prospectively, For hedged items recorded at
amontised cost, the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the face value is
amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge using the recaleulated effective interest rate (EIR)
method. 1T the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in
the consolidated income statement.

(i) Cash flaw hedges

For designated and qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is initially recognised directly in equity in the “Cash flow hedge” reserve, The inefTective portion of
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the conselidated incame statement,

When the hedged cash flow affects the consolidated income statement, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
is recorded in the corresponding income or expense line of the consolidated income siatement. When the forecast
transaction subsequently resulls in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains
and losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income are removed from the reserve and included in
the initial cost of the assel or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in other comprehensive income at that time
remains in other comprehensive income and is recognised when the hedged forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in the consolidated income statement, When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to oceur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately transterred to the
consolidated income statement.

{ifi) Hedge of a net invesiment

Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as
part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
while any gains or losses relating to the inefTective portion are recognised in the consolidated income slatement.
On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised directly in other
comprehensive statement is transferred to the consolidated income statement,

Leasing

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease or it contains a lease, is based on the subsiance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfiliment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 1o use the asset.

Gironp as a fessee

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental o ownership of the
leased items are operating leases, Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
incame statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. Contingent rental payable are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred,
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Leasing (continued)

Cirang as a fessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added o the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income, Contingent
rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised.

fi} fiterest and simifar income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the EIR,
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrving amount of the financial asset or
financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument and includes
any fees or incremental costs that are directly atiributable to the instrument and are an intcgral part of the
eftective interest rate, but not future credit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of
paymients or receipts. The adjusted carmying amount is caleulated based on the original effective interest rate and
the change in the carrving amount is recorded as “Interest and similar income™ for financial assets and “Interest
and similar expense” for financial liabilities.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset on a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due 10 an
impairment loss, interest income continue to be recognized using the rate of interest used 1o discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

{ii) Fee and commission income
The Group eamns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers, Fee
income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee incame earned from services that are provided over a ceriain period of time
Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are acerued over that period. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees.

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
{together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is unlikely
that & loan be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognized as revenues on expiry.

Fee income from providing transaciion services

Fee arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognized
on completion of the underlying transaction. Fee or components of fee that are linked 10 a certain performance
are recognized afier fulfilling the corresponding eriteria.

Fee and commission income from praviding insurance services

Insurance and investment coniract policyholders are charged for policy administration services, investment
management services, surrenders and other contract fees. These fees are recognized as revenue over the period in
which the related services are performed. 1f the fees are for services provided in future periods, then they are
deferred and recognized over those fulure periods.
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Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

fiti) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

fiv) Net gain floss) from financial instruments af fair value through profit or loss

Results arising from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, include all gains and losses from
changes in fair value and related income or expense and dividends for financial asseis at fair value through profit
or loss, This includes any ineffectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.

fvij Insnrance revenne

For the insurance subsidiaries, net premiums and accessories (gross premiums) are laken 1o income over the
terms of the policies to which they relate using the prorate temporise method for non-marine business and 23% of
gross premiums for marine business. Unearned premiums reserve represents the portion of the gross premiums
written relating to the unexpired period of coverage.

If the unearned premiums reserve is nol considered adequate to cover future claims arising on these premiums a
premium deficiency reserve is created.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprise balances with original maturities of a
period of three months or less including: cash and balances with the central banks, deposits with banks and financial
institutions, and deposits due to banks and financial institutions.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment in value, Such cost ineludes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment
il the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property and equipment are required 1o be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrving amount of the
equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maimenance costs are
recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. The present value of the expeeted cost for the

decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria
for a provision are met,

Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation peried or method, as appropriate
and treated as changes in accounting estinwates.

Depreciation is calculated vsing the straight line methed 1o wrile down the cost of property and equipment to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years

Office equipment and furniture 6,66 — 12,5 years
Computer equipment and soflware 333 - 5 years
Gieneral installations 5 years

Vehicles 4 years

Praperty and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset {caleulated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognized in “Net gain (loss) on disposal of fixed assets™ in the
year the asset is derecognized,

The asset’s residual lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
prospectively if applicable,
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
conirolling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether 1o measure the
non- controlling interests in the aequiree at fair value or at the proporiionate share of the acquiree’s identiliable
net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses,

When ihe Group makes an acquisition meeting the definition of a business under IFRS 3, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual
terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as ot the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host coniracis by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
at fair value at the acquisition date through the consolidated income statement. It is then considered in the
determination of goodwill.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or
liability will be recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured al cost, being the excess of the agprepate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liakilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used 1o measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of netl assets acquired over the
agpregate consideration transterred, then_the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated 1o each of the Group's cash generating units {CGUSs) or group
of CGUs, which are expected to benefit from the synergics of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned 1o those units, Each unit to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purpases, and is not larger than an operating segment in accordance with IFRS B "Operating Segments "'

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrving amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained,

Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognized only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits that are atributable to it will low 1o the Group.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses,
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) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets {continued)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite of indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amorlised over the useful economic life. The amoriisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial vear-end. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the assel are
accounted for by changing the amorisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the
consolidated income statement,

Amortisation is caleulated using the straight-ling method to write down the cost of intangible assets (o their
residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

+  Key money 10-15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either
individually or al the cash-gencrating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 1o
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. [f not, the change in useful life from indefinite
to finite is made on a prospective basis,

Ciains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the ditference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite economie life.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Bank assesses at cach reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is reguired, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an assel or cash-generating unil exceeds its
recaverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 1o its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash Mows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects curremt market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are

corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publiely traded subsidiaries or other available fair
value indicators.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as 1o whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, If such indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used o determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrving amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no

impairment loss heen recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated
income statement.

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

30



_Iﬁ;ff!:_rlas Bank SAL
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letiers of credit, guarantees
and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within “Other
liabilities™) at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent 1o initial recognition, the Group’s liability
under each guaraniee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate,
cumulative amorization recognized in the consolidated income statement, and the best estimate of expenditure
required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to {inancial puaraniees is recorded in the consolidated income statement in
“Net credit losses”. The premium received is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight line
basis over the life of the guarantee in “Net fee and commission inceme™.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans, which requires contributions to be made 1o separately
administered funds. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using the
projected unit credit method which involves making actuarial assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of
return on assets, fulure salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. These assumplions are
unbiased and mutually compatible.

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the elfect of the asset ceiling, excluding net interest
and the return on plan assels (excluding net interest), are recognized immediately in the statement of financial
position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur.
Re-measurements are not reclassitied to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

#  The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
#  The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Met interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit lability or asset, The Group
recognises the tollowing changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “Personnel expenses” in
consolidated statement of income:

®  Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-
ronting seltlements
¥ Metinterest expense or income

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required o settle the
abligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the consolidated income statement net of any reimbursement.

Taxes
Taxes are provided for in accerdance with regulations and laws that are effective in the countries where the
Group operates,

il Crirvent fax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid 1o the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used 1o compute the amoun are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxes (continued)

(it} Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrving amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
all taxable temporary differences, except:
¢ Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liabiliyy
in a transaction that is nol a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
¢ In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with invesiments in subsidiaries and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax eredits and unused tax losses can be
utilised except:

¢ Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaciion that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss,

¢ o respect of deductible temporary difterences associated with invesiments in subsidiaries and
associgles, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the tempaorary
differences will reverse in the foreseeahle future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach statement of financial position date and reduced 1o
the extent that it is no longer probable that suflicient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be wtilised, Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed al each statement of financial
position date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered,

Deferred tax assels and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
assel is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income are also
recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the consolidated income statement,

Dieferred 1ax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set oft current tax
assels against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Treasury shares

Owvn equity instruments of the Group which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries (ireasury shares) are
deducted from equity and accounted for at weighted average cost, Consideration paid or received on the purchase
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognized directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognized in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's
oW equily instruments.

When the Group holds own equity instruments on behalf of its clients, those holdings are not included in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
15 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Treasury shares (continued)

Contracts on own shares that require physical settlement of a fixed number of own shares for a fixed
consideration are classified as equity and added to or deducted from equity. Contracts on own shares that require
net cash seitlement or provide a choice of seitlement are classified as trading instruments and changes in the fair
value are reported in the consolidated income statement.

Assets held in custody and under administration

The Group provides custody and administration services that result in the holding or investing of assets on hehalf
of its clients. Assets held in custody or under administration, are not treated as assets of the Group and
accordingly are recorded as ofT financial position items.

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the
Bank’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the
discretion of the Bank.

Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting date.

Customers’ acceptances

Customers” acceplances represent term documentary credits which the Group has committed to settle on behalf of
its clients against commitments by those clients (acceplances). The commitments resulling from these
acceplances are stated as a liability in the statement of financial position for the same amount,

Segment reporting
The Group's segmental reporting is based on the following operating segments: consumer banking, corporate
banking, and treasury and capital markets.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities
affected in fulure periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Ciaing concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability o continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Group has the resources 1o continue in business for the foreseeable future, Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast signiticant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the
going concern basis,

Business model

In making an assessment whether a business model’s objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, the Greup considers at which level of its business activities such assessment should be made.
Generally, a business model is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the way business is managed and the
information provided to management, However, in some circumstances it may not be clear whether a particular
activity involves one business model with some infrequent asset sales or whether the anticipated sales indicate
that there are two different business models.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (cantinued)
Judgements (continued)

Business model {fcontinmed)
In determining whether its business model for manaping financial assets is to hold assets in order o collect
contractual cash flows the Group considers:

- management’s stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in

praclice;

- how management evaluates the performance of the porifolio;

- whether management’s stralegy focuses on caming contractual interest revenues;

- ihe degree of frequency of any expected asset sales;

- the reason for any asset sales; and

- whether sold assets are held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual maturity,

Consractual cash flows of financial assels

The Group exercises judgement in determining whether the contractual terms of financial assets 1l originates or
acquires give rise on specilic dates 1o cash flows that are solely payvments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding and so may qualify for amortised cost measurement, In making the assessment the Group
considers all contractual terms, including any prepavment terms or provisions to extend the maturity of the assets,
terms that change the amount and timing of cash flows and whether the contractual terms contain leverage,

Decansolidation of Byblos Bank Syria and Byblos Bank Afvica as ar 31 December 2016

The Group proceeded with the deconsolidation of the subsidiaries Byblos Bank Syria and Byblos Bank Africa,
effective as of 31 December 2016. The decision to proceed with the deconsalidation was mainly due to the loss of
contral over the subsidiaries and the Group’s inability o direct the relevant activities of the subsidiaries, The
violent and crippling civil war, the international sanctions, the lack of exchangeability between the Syrian and
Sudanese Pounds from one side and the US Dollar from the other, combined with other restrictive regulations,
have limited the Group's ability to effectively manage the subsidiaries, Given this scenario, which is expecied to
endure for the foreseeable future, it was considered that the requisite conditions of IFRS 10 have not been met in
order for an accounting control to be carried out on the subsidiaries. Therefore, the deconselidation of the
subsidiaries was proceeded with. Given the complexity of the Syrian and Sudanese scenarios, the previously
summarised considerations and assumptions inevitably relied on complex and subjective assessments and
estimates based on historical experience, and are considered reasonable and realistic in the circumstances. These
assessments and assumptions resulted in significant overall effects on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Please refer to note 2, “Deconsolidation of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria™ and “Deconsolidation of the
subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa” for more details on these effects.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjusiment 1o the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial vear, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the consolidated linancial statements were prepared, Existing circumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they oceur.

Fair valve af financial nsiruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgement is required to establish fair values. The
judgements include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for longer dated derivatives
and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset backed securities. Changes in
assumplions about these factors could atfect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)

fmpairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each statement of financial position date o
assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated income statement. In particular,
judgement by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Group makes judgements aboutl the
borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable value of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions

about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resultling in future changes to the allowance.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually
insignificant loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk
characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is
objective evidence but whose effects are not vet evident. The collective assessment takes account of data from the
loan portfolio {such as credit quality, levels of arrears, credit utilization, loan to collateral ratios ete),
concentrations of risks and economic date (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices, country
risk and the performance of different individual groups).

Deferved tax assels

Deferred tax assels are recognized in respect to tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilized. Judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with
future tax planning strategies.

Pensions abligation

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined using an actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are
subject to significant uncertainty.

4 GROUP INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL and
the following subsidiaries:

Farcentage Fringteal Coumrey af
Suhidion ef cwnersfhip aciniiy [RCGIPORIR

24014 1015

% b

Banking activities through its head office in Brussels

Bybles Bank Europe 54 40,95 9395 [Belgium) and two branches in London ad Paris Balgium
Adonis [nsurarce and Reinsurance

Co. (AR SAL G400 6400  Inturarsse Lebanion
Adonis Brokerage House SAL 10000 L0000 Imswrance brokerage Lebanon
Byblos Invest Bank 5AL Q9.59 F6E  Investment banking Laztznon
Byblos Bank Afnca (%) 56,56 5686  Commercisl Barking Sudan
Bybilos Bank Syra 8.4 (*) 59,87 5987 Cemmercial Banking Kuria
Byblos Bark Ammenia CISC DO, 4 £5.00  Cemmerciel Bankmg Anmenia
Adcais Insurance and Reinsurance

{ATHER]) Syria Th.040 Te 0 Insurarde Syrie
Byhlos Bank RDC SARL EG6T 6667 Banking activities Deeenoren:

Fepublic of Conga

(*1 Effective 31 December 2016, the Group deconsalidated Byblas Rank Syria 8 AL and Byblos Bank Africa since it no longer meets the
accounting critenia for consolidation
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of ownership interest in Bangue Pharaon & Chifia SAL

During 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL, an unlisted bank
operating in Lebanon, for a total consideration of LL 148,732 million. Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL was
engaged in providing a wide range of banking services to its customers through its Head Office and branches
located in Lebanon, The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method. The consolidated financial
statements include the results of Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL for the six-month period from 30 April 2016, the
acquisition date, until 31 October 2016 when the assets and liabilitics of Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL were
merged with the assets and liabilities of Byblos Bank SAL. From 30 April 2016, the date of acquisition, till 31
October 2016, Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL contributed LL 2,524 million to the consolidated net profit of the
Group. If the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the vear 2016, consolidated net income for the year
would have increased by LL 2,491 million.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising as at 30 April 2016, the date of acquisition,

WS,

Fair value

recognised
ot acqiisition
LE miiltion
Assets

Cash and balances with central bank 90,604
Due from banks and financial institulions 27,13%
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss T94
Net loans and advances to customers at amoriized cost 135,165
Debtors by acceplances 1,228
Financial assets at amortized cost 206,564
Property and equipment 520
Assets oblained in seulement of debt 47
Other assets 2,030
464,091

Liabilities
Deposits from customers at amaortized cost (307,863)
Deposits from related parties at amortized cost (37,899)
Engagements by acceptances {1,228)
Onher liakilities {7,734)
Provisions for risks and charges (2,138)
{I56,862)
Total identifiable net assets 107,229

LL miffion

Acquisition percentage 100%%
Fair value of net assets acquired (107,229)
Consideration paid 148,732
Excess Fair value of soll loan (*) (73,159)
Additional expenses to be incurred upoen acquisition (note 36) 44,083
Goodwill arising on acquisition 12,427

i
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Acqueisition af ownership interest in Bangue Pharaon & Chifia SAL {comiinned)

(*) On 20 October 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon approved the merger of the assets and liabilities of Banque
Pharaon & Chiha SAL and, in this respect, granted the Group two loans with favourable terms compared to the
markel. In accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon’s approval, the difference between the fair value of the
loans and the proceeds received amounting to LL 73,159 million should be allocated by the Group o cover the
expected costs that will be incurred as a result of the merger. As at 31 December 2016, the Group allocated the
excess received against the below costs:

LL mitlion

Impairment of goodwill 29,076
Credit losses 27,094
Employees indemnities 16,989
Total 73,159

During 2016, the Group wrote-off the remaining carrying amount of goodwill amounting to LL 12,427 million in
the consolidated statement of income.

Out of the total consideration paid, an amount of LL 11,0035 million was deposited in an escrow account, the
purpose of which is 1o indemnily the Group from losses incurred by Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL as a result of
unrecorded or undisclosed liabilities, shortfall of provisions for loans and advances to customers and court cases
brought against Bangque Pharaon & Chiha SAL before the closing date of 30 April 2016, As a1 31 December 2016,
the unrecorded losses incurred by Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL as a result of the above amounted to LL 5,247
million and were paid from the escrow account. The remaining balance of the escrow accounl amounting to LL
5,758 million (node 36) will be released 1o the sellers during the vear 2017 unless additional unforeseen liabilities
refating to the period before the closing date are incurred by Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL.

Transaction costs of LL 1610 million were expensed and included in “Other operating expenses” in the
consolidated statement of income,

LL wmillion
Cash paid {145.732)
MNet eash acquired with the subsidiary 65,133
Met cash outflow {53,59'}}

Capital increase in Byblos Bank Armenia CISC

On & April 2016, the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting of Byblos Bank Armenia CISC resolved to increase
Byblos Bunk Armenia CISC's capital by an amount of LL 49,629 million in which the Group fully participated, As
a result of this capital increase, the Group’s ownership interest increased from 63.00% to 88.06%.

Acquisition of EBRD share in Byblas Bank Armenia CISC

Effective 24 June 2016, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRID), holders of 8.53% non-
contralling interests of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Armenia CISC, exercised the put option granted by Byblos
Bank SAL which resulted in the Group acquiring an additional 8.53% interest in the voting shares of Bsblos Bank
Armenia CISC, increasing its ownership interest to 96.5%%. A cash consideration of LL 6,130 million was paid to
the non-controlling interest shareholders. The carrving value of the additional interest acquired was LL 4,800
million. As the Group accounts for such put options through partial recognition of non-controlling interests, this
transaction did not have an impact on non-controlling interests in equity. The difference between the cash
consideration paid o non-conirolling shareholders and the carrying value of additional interest acquired amounting
to LL 1,330 million is recognized within equity.
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Acquisition af OFID share in Byblos Bank Armenia CISC

Effective 20 July 2016, Opec Fund for Intemnational Development (OFID), halders of the remaining 3.41% non-
controlling interests of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Armenia CISC, exercised the put option granted by Byblos
Bank SAL which resulted in the Group acquiring an additional 3.41% interest in the voling shares of Byblos Bank
Armenia CISC, increasing its ownership interest to 100%. A cash consideration of LL 2,452 million was paid to
the non-controlling interest sharcholders, The carrying value of the additional interest acquired was LL 1,921
million. As the Group accounts for such put options through partial recognition of non-contralling interests, this
transaction did not have an impact on non-controlling interests in cquity, The difference between the cash
consideration paid to non-contralling sharcholders and the carrying value of additional interest acquired amounting
to LL 531 million is recognized within equity.

6 MATERIAL PARTLY-OMWNED SUBSIDIARIES
Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-contralling interests are provided below:

Proportion of equity interests held by non-controlling interests:

2016 2015
% %5

Name
Byblos Bank Africa (*) 43.14 43.14
Adonis Insurance and Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL 36,00 36,00
Byblos Bank Armenia CISC - 35.00
Byblos Bank Syria S.A. (*) 40.13 40,13

(*) Effective 31 December 2016, the Group deconsolidated Byblos Bank Syria S.A. and Byblos Bank Africa
since it no longer meets the accounting eriteria for consolidation,

The summarized financial information of these subsidiaries are provided below. This information is based on
amounts before inter-company eliminations:

Summarized income statement Tor 2016:

Hybas  Adonis Imsurance  Byblos Bank Byblos

Buenk  and Relnsurance Armenia  Bank Syrin

Africa Co. fADIR) SAL CISC £A

LE miltion LI mitifon LL miiffion LI miifion

Net inlerest income 4,807 10,613 4,355 1,959
et fee and commission income 877 3084 168 939
Met gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 213 143 138 30,937
(her operaling income 128 19,415 13 o0
Netcredit (losses) gains 1,010 - (2,135) 4,044
Total opzraling expenses {2,958 {11,651) (3,160) {16,926}
Income tax cxpenss (897} (1,737) - (996)
Frofit (foss) for the year 3150 19,867 {_-1-9l} _!ﬂ.[lﬂ'
Anrbutable o non-controlling interests 1,359 7,152 - 8057
Dhividends paid to nen-contrelling interests — - YT ' E -
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& MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES {(continued)

Summarized income statement for 200135:

et interest income

Met fee and commission income

Wet gain from financial instruments at fair valug through profit or loss
Other operating incems

Net credit (losses) gains

Total operating expenses

[ncome lax expanse

Profit {loss) for the vear
Attributable to pon-contralling interests

Dividends paid to non-contralling interests

Summarized statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016;

Cash and balances with central banks
[}ue from banks and financial institutions
Balances with Parent and Group entitics
Finencial assets at fair value through profin or loss
Met Ipans and advances at amorized cost
Financial assets at amortized cost
Property and equipment

Oither assels

Due to hanks

Deposits al amortized cost

(iher Liabiliies

Total equity

Attributable to non-contealling interests

Hyblos
Heank
Africa

LL millian

3,824
1,220
509
339
(5,351)
{7.279)
(1,111}

{1,840

(197

2710

———

Adanis fnsurance  Byblos Bank
and Relnsurance Armenia  Hyhlos Bank
Co (ADIR) SAL CISC Sria S.A.
LI milfion LI millicn LI miilion
9749 1,637 3,626
25497 1535 2,165
- 213 36,783
17.999 42 1049
- {4,220 & 116
(122355 (4545 (18821
(967} {81} {524)
17,525 16,797 29,154
6,300 (2,379 11,7040
2,004
Adanis
tusurance and Hyblas
Reinswrance Bank
Co. (ADIR) Armetita
SAL CISC

LEL miflion

LE miliion

3 13,097

27,179 12,220
153,055 1,290
37,085 g
4,875 69,125
156,694 6d, 470
2,612 2917
56,297 4,491

. {8,637}
(234,383)  (91,544)
(12L614)  (31,834)
81,806 65,595
19,491 .
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o MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Summarized statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015

Byblos Bank
Africa
LEL wrillion

Cash and balances with central banks 74,367
Due from banks and financial institulions 4,963
Balances with Parent and Group entities 44,650
Financial assets at fair value through prafit or loss .
Met loans and advances al amortized cost #2049
Financial assets at amortized cost | 8,469
Property and cquipment 15,127
Ciher assels 1,882
Due to banks (34,991)
Due tor Parent and Ciroup entities (41.021)
Deposits at amortized cost (106, 718)
Other liabilities {12,544)
Tal equity 46,273
Attributable to non-controlling interests 11,864

Summarized cash flow information for the year ended 31 December 2016:

Byblos

Bank

Africa

LE nelliion

Opzraning 3,611
Investing (11,123)
Firancing (6,420
Met increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {13,932)

Summarized cash flow information for the vear ended 31 December 2015:

Hyklos

Hank

Afriea

LL mllion

Operating (4977
Inwesting 16,415
Finarcing {23.672)
Wetincreass (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (12.214)

Adanis Byhlog
Msurance and Bank
Bybles Bank  Reinswrance Co. Armenia
Svria 5.4, FADIRY SAL CASC
L miillion LLmifiten LF miflion
34,7191 9 29,801
87,712 31,485 16,493
80,058 130,399 814
. 25,537 £
74,582 4,583 56,019
1,704 140,732 13,034
4,858 2,985 3,165
19810 51,879 4,862
(40,047) b (9,559)
(60.618) - -
{148,611} (203,354 (89,145
{15.529) {113,543} (8.405)
61,710 w2 17,099
25,0908 25492 E]
Adonis Insurance  Byblos Bank Byblos
and Reinsurance Armenia Bank Syria
o (ADIR} SAL CISC 5A
LE mililion LE million LE miffien
14,274 (61,534) 1,223
18,502) 21 4,406
(5,161} 72,351 -
611 079 5619
Adzanis Insurance Byblos Rank
and Relnsurance Armenia  Byblos Bank
Co. fADIR) SAL A8 Siria 5.4,
LI milltawn L mittion LE muillian
27,526 12,863 (47,718
(H.676) {76} 6910
(3450) 7432 -
{10,600 nzi9 ’ (40,808
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7 SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into three operating segments based on products and services
as follows:

Retail banking provides a diversified range of products and services to meet the personal banking and consumer
linance needs of individuals. The range includes deposits, housing loans, consumer loans, credit cards, funds
transfers, foreign exchange and other hranch related services.

Corporate banking provides a comprehensive product and service offering 1o corporate and institutional
customers, including loans and other credit facilities, deposits and current accounts, trade finance and foreign
exchange operations.

Treasury and capital markets is mosily responsible for the liquidity management and market risk of the Group
as well as managing the Group's own portfolio of stocks, bonds and other financial instruments. In addition, this
segment provides treasury and investment producis and services to investors and other institutional customers,

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating
profit or loss which in certain respects is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the financial
statements. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Interest income is reported net as management primarily relies on net interest revenue as performance measure,
not the gross income and expense amounts,

Transfer prices between operating segmenis are on an arms’ length basis in a manner similar 1o transactions with
third parties.

The following table presents nel operating income, profit and total assets and liabilities information in respect of
the Group’s operating segments:

FPrafit for the year information

Jald
Freaswry and
Retail Cerporate capital
banking Banking muarkers theher! Toral
LI milfion L1 millien LE milfion L1 milflion LL milfion
et interest income (evpense) 19502 % 113,450 24,034 (515} 30,798
Med fee and commission income 8,570 57068 T4 5,155 121,607
el gain from finarcial inctnements at Fair value th:'c\-ugh
prifit or lass - . 79,970 - T&8T0
Nel gadn frem sale of fineroial s4sets 2t emortired cost . - 417,699 - 117,699
Dividend income from finescial assets &0 Qier value through
other comprehensive income - - 4415 - 4,413
Other operating income - - - 17,503 17,503
Net aredin (losses) gaing (13,045} 19,450 1,578 . 3,915
Impairment losses on financial investments - - - (49.6T6) [49,578)
Net operating income 139,155 00,408 558 168 (17,3%3) B‘S{IE
FrriE
Treaswey wad
Rerall Corparais cupinal
Faiking hanbing ki kst Tatal
LE miliion LL milfton LE miilion LL million LEL militan
Net inberest income 173,401 113851 94,241 2013 366,314
Mt fee and commission insome AT6 59,159 497 4518 121,%51
Bet gain from finarcial inscruments a1 fair value through
profit or loss - - 67,443 - 67,443
Met gain from sale of finangial assets an amorfized cos . . RS 959 . A5,95%
Dividend income from financial assets ag fuir value through
other comprehensive meome - - 4,383 - 4,383
Onhet operaling inteme - - - 20,935 10,935
Nt evedin (losses) gaing (14,061} 202 (34045 - (47.308)
Netoperating income FALR-1 1 175,192 219454 18,597 EAD,059
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7 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Financtal position information

Total sssets

Tatal liabilities

Tunsl assets

Total liskilities

! Ocher tncludes all nor-banking actnaties

Geographic information

R
Treasivey and
Rerall Corparate capital
banking banking moarkets her” Taotal
LT milfian LI million LI million L milfisn LI meiilion
2Tir 47 5318924 12,940,507 401,213 M, 373,50
24303619 1ATE 042 I.‘?T.‘.IE RS0 08T 18,684,156
2O
Trearwey aed
Retanl ['aq'.\.l.rmr copilal
Barking banking mdrkd s it Tomad
LI million LI mifian L millicn LI million LI mitfian
2457 287 582,354 I EGR 165 405 624 15,954,410
RIS 1.369,021 R 563,509 27370557

The Group operates in three geographical segments, Lebanen, Evrope and other countries, The following table
shows the distribution of the Group's net operating income and non-current assels.

Total operating income
Met credit gaing (losses)
Impairment losses on financial investments

Nel operating income?

Non-current assets®

Tmal operating incoma
et credit losses

Net operating income?

Mon-current assels?

2014
Lebanon Eurape iher Toral
LL miliion LL mrition LL miflion LL mitiion
916,503 374899 67,088 1,021,290
7302 (3,345) 4,968 £,025
(49,676} = - {49,676)
873,929 34,554 72,056 980,539
61,783 614 19,377 290,774

2015
Lebanon Europe Cifer Total
LL wriifion LL million LL moiflion L meiffion
565,601 36438 B3,928 687 967
(37,849 (6,273) (3,780) (47,908)
527752 30,165 82,142 640059
245234 10,360 42.030 297,624

! Net aperoring tncame 1s asinibuted 10 the geograshica! segeent on the basis of the Tocorlsn of the bramch - subsidiony respornble for rgporting the results or

advancing the funds

¥ Nap-cusrenl asisti coniill of property and eguipment, infangible aisets and cenain ather aiseis fother than financial instewminis and deferred taves
eapected ta Be mecoversd i more than reehe months afier the pporing daie

42



Byblos Bank SAL R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

8 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

2006 2013
LEL miftion LL wmillion
Balances with central banks 316,669 263,832
Due from banks and financial institutions 16,243 9051
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements
16,181 36,220
Financial assets given as collateral 2,319 191
Loans and advances to customers al amortized cost 514,775 493,597
Loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost 1,628 1,869
Financial assets at amortized cost 658,097 684,325
1,545,922 1.489,087
9 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
2616 2013
LL milfion LL miffion
Due to central banks 3,167 2,152
Due to banks and financial institutions 26,136 21,902
Customers” deposits al amortized cost 1,066,168 100647
Deposits from related parties at amortized cost 15,104 15,715
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 31,009 3124
Subordinated debt 31,450 kY x|
1,176,124 1,102,771
10 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
2006 2013
LL million LE milfion
Fee and commission income
Loans and advances 24873 23,513
Letters of guarantee 13,584 15,857
Acceplances 5,094 5,996
Letters of credit 14,634 16,517
Credit cards 17,933 15,571
Domiciled bills 2,54 2,503
Checks for collection 3,081 2,904
Maintenance of accounts 13,829 13,048
Transfers 8,621 8,973
Safe rental 1,210 1.168
Paortfolio commission 2,989 2,934
Commission on insurance related activities 9,474 9,124
Refund of banking services 12,958 12,206
Other commissions 3318 4,201
134,122 134,515
Fee and commission expense (12,515) (12,3564)
Net fee and commission income 121,607 121,951
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11 NET GAIN FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
LL miflion LL million

Interest and similar fncame from debt instriements

- Lebanese treasury bills 27,125 11,330
- Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 27,991 1,479
- Foreign governmental debt securities 26 4
= Oiher debt securities 18 79
55,160 12,912
{Loss) gain from sale af debi instruments
- Lehanese treasury bills (2,722) 1,821
- Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon (17.519) 274
- Foreign governmental debt securities 120 (33)
- Oiher debt securities 39 160
Coo082) 2220
Unrealized (lass) gain from revalvaiion of defi insiruments
- Lebanese treasury bills 1,061 (6,145)
- Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon (6,809) (175)
- Foreign governmental debt securities - 38
- Other debt securities 214 127
(5:534) (6,155)
Net gain from debt instruments 29,544 8,977
Equity instruments o
- Giain (loss) from sale 204 (2.471)
- Unrealized gain from revaluation 1,807 953
- Dividend income 636 573
Net gain (loss) from equity instruments i.ﬁ-i? o (943)
Unrealized gain from revaluation of structural position of a subsidiary 30,662 35,547
Foreign exchange 21,908 23,862
Fair value of put options on non-controlling interests (+,791) -
79,970 67,443

Foreign exchange income includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts, other currency derivatives
and the revaluation of the daily open trading position.
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12 NET GAIN FROM SALE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

The Group derccognises some debt instruments classified at amortised cost due to the following reasons:

- Deterioration of the credit rating below the ceiling allowed in the Group®s investment policy:

- Liguidity gap and yield management;
- Exchange of certificates of deposit by the Lebanese Central Bank;

- Currency risk management as a result of change in the currency base of deposits; or

- Liguidity for capital expenditures,

The schedule below details the gains and losses arising from the derecognition of these financial assets:

2016 -
Crirines Lossex Net
LL milifan LL miffion LL mitfion
Lebancse treasury bills 286,220 (6,757) 279,463
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanan 136,003 - 136,003
Foreign governmental debt securities 528 - 828
Other debt securities 1,493 (88) 1,405
424,544 (6,845) 417,699

2015

Crains Losses Net
LL million LL million LL million
Lebanese treasury hills 22311 (48] 22310
Certiticates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 38,551 - 58,551
Foreign governmental debt securities 19 = 19
Other debt securities 6059 - 6,059
86,940 () 86939

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon bought from the Group long-term treasury bills and certificates of
deposit denominated in Lebanese Lira at prices significantly exceeding their fair values. These transactions were
available to banks provided that they are able to reinvest an amount equivalent to the nominal value of the sold
instruments in Eurobonds issued by the Lebanese Republic or Certificates of Deposit issued by the Ceniral Bank
of Lebanon denominated in US Dollars and purchased at their fair values. The gains arising from such trades
amounted to LL 271,699 million from the Lebanese treasury bills portfolio and LL 130,539 million from the

Certificates of Deposit portfolio.

13 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Met gain from sale of assets obtained in settlement of debt
Remal income from assets oblained in seitlement of debt
Write back of provisions for risks and charges (note 37 (b))

Other operating income from insurance related activities
Others

2016 2005

LE miflion LL million
4,093 356

263 1.118

3,073 -
16,901 15,141
2,773 3820
27,803 20,935
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14 NET CREDIT GAINS (LOSSES)

Charge for the year:

Loans and advances to customers al amortized cost {note 25)

Falances with central banks (note 19)
Bad debts written oft

Recoveries during the year:
Loans and advances to customers (note 23)
Balances with central banks (note 199

Linrealized interest on loans and advances to customers (note 23)

Financial assets al amortized cosl

15 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries and related charges

Social seeurily contributions

Ronuses

Provision for end of service benefits (note 37 {a))

16 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Taxes on interest

Taxes and duties

Contribution to deposits guaraniee fund
Rent and related charges

Professional fees

Telecommunications and postage expenses
Board of Directors’ attendance fees
Maintenance and repairs

Electricity and fuel

Travel and entertainment

Publicity and advertising

Subseriptions

Legal expenses

Insurance

Guarding fees

Printings and stationery

Donations

Provisions for risks and charges (note 37 (b))
Others

2016 2003
LE milfion LL milfion
(29,736) (36,163}
- (35,620)
(53) {137}
(29,789) C(72,120)
A3 466 17,730
1,578 -
3670 4,911
- 1.571
38,714 I TRTE
8,925 (47.908)
26 2015
LL milfion L million
152,816 144,703
20,635 17,853
15,051 14,831
T.285 3405
195,787 180,792
2056 2005
LL meiflian LL miffion
3,299 3.384
6,790 8,568
12,601 11,913
6,598 6,433
15,209 11,237
7457 7.639
956 1,020
16,673 15,532
5839 5,878
1,452 3,750
14,948 12,828
5,665 3837
4,342 3.997
1,691 1.6949
2,366 2175
3,293 311
2,460 3,370
20,733 21,394
10,502 11,422
145474 139,187
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17 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2013 are as follows:

2016
LL mitifon

Current income tax expense 103,546
Deferred tax related to origination and reversal of temporary diflerences 956
Other laxes 9917

114,119

2013
L million

48,041
536
4,506

53.083

The tax rates applicable 1o the parent and subsidiaries vary from 0% to 40% in accordance with the income tax
laws of the countries where the Group operates. For the purpose of determining the taxable resulis of the
subsidiaries for the vear, the accounting results have been adjusted for tax purposes. Such adjusiments include
items relating to both income and expense and are based on the current understanding of the existing tax laws and

regulations and tax practices.

The components of operating profit before tax, and the differences between income tax expense reflected in the
financial statements and the amounts calculated al the Lebanese tax rate, are shown in the table below:

2016 2043
LL million LL mriflion
Profit before tax 363,954 296,520
[ncome tax at Lebanese tax rate of 15%: 54,593 44,478
Impact of increase resulting fram:
[ifferent tax rates 5,156 3,915
Mon-deductible expenses 51,485 6,820
56,641 10,735
Frpact af decrease resilting from:
Revenues previously subject to tax {2,789) {1,838)
Unrealized gain from revaluation of structural position ot a subsidiary {4,599) (3,334)
(7,388) (7,172)
Income tax 103846 48,041
Effective income tax rate 18.53% Iﬁ.ﬂﬁ
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17 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The movement of current tax liabilities during the year is as follows:

2016 2015

LE mifition LL million

Balance at 1 January 37,724 50,219
Charge for the year 113,763 32,547
Deferred taxes related to deferred revenues (note 36) 22,402 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary 1,783 -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries {1,368) =
O 1753M 102,766

Less taves paid: -
Current year tax liability * (29,498) 126,384
Prior vears tax liahilities (24,876) (38,658)
(54374)  (65,042)

Ealance at 31 December (note 36 (a)) 111},93_1] 3T

{*) Bepresems taxes paid on interest received from treasury bills and central banks™ certificates of deposits

Deferred taxes recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position result from the following items:

2016
Deferred tux Deferred tax
assels flabifities
LL million LL miltion
Fair value of financial instruments 593 4,323
215
Deferved tax Deferved tax
assels Habilities
LI million LL mitlion
Fair value of financial instruments - 3273
Carried forward taxable losses of a subsidiary 3.506 -
3,906 3273
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18 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is caleulated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ardinary equity holders
of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the vear.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit altributable 1o ordinary equity holders of the
Group (after adjusting for interest on the convertible instruments net of tax) by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares owstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ardinary shares that would have
been issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential shares into ordinary shares.

The following table shows the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share calculation:

2016 2043

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the vear (*) 562,891,539 563022405
2016 2043

LE million LL million

Met profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 232,672 228,185
{Less): proposed dividends to preferred shares (48,480) (48,480
Med profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 154,192 179,705
Basic carnings per share in LL 3722 319.18

(*) The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted for the computation of basic eamings per share
takes into account the weipghted average number of treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share
The following table shows the inceme and share data used in the diluted earnings per share calculation:

206 2013
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 562,891,53%  563.022.405
Effect of dilution:
Convertible subordinated debt 117,200,000 17,200,000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect
of dilution 680,091,539  6R0,222.405
26 2013
LL milfion LL million
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 184,192 174,705
Interest on convertible deht 31,480 31,231
Less: income tax (4,722) (4,685)
MNet profit attributable to equity holders of the parent adjusted for the effect of i
convertible debt 210,950 206,251
Dilumed earnings per share in LL 310,18 nz.2

There were no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and
the date of the completion of these consolidated financial statements which would require the restatement of
earnings per share.
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19 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

216 2003
LL miftion LL million
Cash on hand 249,425 260,252
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon;
- Current accounts 11,787 706,950
- Time deposits 7,707,705 5,965,933
8,219,492 6,672,883
Balances with Central Banks in other countries: N g
- Current accounts 221,651 273,834
- Time deposits 38,845 15482
- Provision for balances with Central Banks in other countries (a) {31,561) (35.445)
228935 253871
Accrued interest receivable 85,240 49,231
8,783,092 7,236,237

fal  Provision for balances with Central Banks in other couniries

Movement in the provision for balances with Central Banks in other countries during the vear was as follows:

2016 2005

LE mififon LL million

At 1 January 35,445 -
Charge for the year (note 14) - 35,620
Write-back during the vear (note 14) (1,578) -
Foreign exchange (2,306) (175)
At 31 December 31,561 35,445

Provision for balances with Central Banks in other countries represents provision amounting to LL 31,561 million as
at 31 December 2016 (2015: LL 31,546 million) against balances held with the Central Bank of lraq — Kurdistan.

(b Obligatory reserves:

In accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon’s rules and regulations, banks operating in Lebanon are
required to deposit with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon an obligatory reserve caleulated on the basis of 25% of
sight commitments and 15% of werm commitments denominated in Lebanese Lira. This is not applicable for
investment banks which are exempt from obligatory reserve requirements on commilments denominated in
Lebanese Lira. Additionally, all banks operating in Lebanon are required to deposit with the Central Bank of
Lebanon interest-bearing placements representing 153% of total deposits in foreign currencies regardless of
nature, Obligatory reserve requirements for banks operating in Lebanon and the related covering time deposits
and current accounts with the Central Bank of Lebanon amounted to LL 2,650,875 million and LL 2,661,708
million respectively as at 31 December 20016 (2005 LL 2610,080 million and LL 2,823,076 million
respectively).

Subsidiary banks and branches operating in foreign countries are also subject to obligatory reserve requirements
determined based on the banking rules and regulations of the countries in which they operate. As of 31
December 2016, obligatory reserve requirements for banks operating in foreign countries and the related
covering time deposits, current accounts and cash on band amounted to LL 47,240 million (2015: LL 106,711
million).
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20 DUE FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Banks:

= Current accounts

- Time deposits

- Acerued interest receivable

= Doubtful bank accounts

- Prowision for doubtful bank accounts

Financial institutions;
- Current accounts

Registered exchange companies:

- Currént accounts

- Doubtful exchange companics accounts

- Provision for doubiful exchange companies accounts

Brokerage companies:
- Current accounts

Doubified banks and registered exchange companies

2016 2013

LE miflion LL miflion
784,522 767,301
1,868,039 1,739,756
1,442 1,013
1,718 1,766
(1,718) {1.766)
2,654,003 2,5308.070
2,312 2,305
2016 2015

LL nrififon

LL miflion

243 6,740
2,306 1,922
(2,306) (1,922)
243 6,740

871 1,250
1,657,429 2,518,365

Following is the movement in the provisions for doubiful banks and registered exchange companies during the

year:
26 2043

Registered Registered

exchange exchamnge
Banks  companies Total Banks campanies Tatal
LL miffian LL miftion  LL milfion LL miifion LL nulifan LI milfion
Balance at 1 January 1,766 1,922 1688 2,038 1,922 1,960
Acquisition of a subsidiary - 384 384 - - -
Exchange difference (48) - (48} (271 - (272)
Balance at 31 December 1,71% 2,306 4,014 1,766 1,922 3088
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21 LOANS TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND REVERSE REPURCHASE

AGREEMENTS
2016 20113
LL mitiion L siflion
Laoans to banks and linancial institutions o4,191 167,932
Accrued interest receivable 781 805
94,972 168,737
Discounted acceptances 108,915 91,738
Interest received in advance (53 (304)
108,352 91,434
Reverse repurchase agreements 760,411 932,500
Accrued interest receivable 301 1376
760,712 936,876
964,066 1.197,047

Reverse repurchase agreements held by the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 comprise of the following;

M December 2016 Average
Bafence Bolance  Interestrate  Collateraf type  Collateral value
(aeny  LL miffion % LL milflion
LL 300,636,000 300,636 3 BDL CDs 285,000
LSS 301,060 453,847 1.43 BDL CDs 452,250
AMD 1,899,980 5,928 575  Armenian TBs &.180
31 December 20135 Average
Balance Balance  interest rate  Collateral npe Coflateral value
() LL milfion %5 LL million
Uss 618,574 932,500 2.61 BDL CDs 934,630

The Group has a programme to purchase securities under agreements to resell (reverse repos). The Group has an
abligation 1o return the securities and the counterparty retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Consequently, the securities are not recognized by the Group, which instead record a separate asset under reverse
repurchase agreement reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Group,

As of 31 December 2016, the Group had Certificates of Deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon with a
total nominal amount of USS 300 million and LL 285,000 million and Armenian Treasury Bills issued by the
Armenian government with a total nominal amount of AMD {000) 1,980,896 bought from financial institutions
under the agreement to resell them during the first half of 2017 (2015: Certificates of Deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon with a total nominal amount of USS 620 million bought from a financial institwtion
under the agreement 1o resell them during the lirst half of 2016).

Met interest income on the reverse repurchase agreements amounted to LL 18,208 million for the year ended
31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: LL 22,573 million).
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21 FINANCIAL ASSETS GIVEN AS COLLATERAL

2016 20015
LL million LL miflion
Treasury bills mortgaged in favour of the Central Bank of Lebanen, at

amortized cost 222,387 1.387
Accrued interest receivahle 1,657 14
224,044 1.405

The balance represents treasury bills pledged as collateral for loans ebtained from the Central Bank of Lebanon
(note 32).

13 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities,
together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s
underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are
measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the vear end and are neither
indicative of the market risk nor the credit risk.

Credit risk in respeet of derivative financial instruments arises [rom the potential for a counterparty to default on
its contractueal obligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favorable to the
CGroup.

2014 2003

Nottonal Movienal
Assets  Llalilitles amat Aszrers Liakilities amaunt
LE mittion  LL millian LEL million LL millizn LI million LL million

Held far frading
Currency swaps 1,958 938 194,933 il4 392 170,952
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2462 1,168 115,601 1,530 2,053 136,326
4,410 1106 30,534 1,844 2445 407 308

Forwards

Forwards are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a specilic price and date in
the future. Forwards are customized contracts transacted in the over-the—counter market,

Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payvments over time based on
specified notional amounts, in relation to movements in a specified underlying index such as an interest rate,
foreign currency rate or equity index.

In a currency swap, the Group pays a specified amount in one currency and receives a specified amount in
another currency, Currency swaps are mostly gross—settled.

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate 1o deals with customers that are normally offset by
transactions with other counterparties. Also included under this classification are any derivatives entered into for
risk management purposes that do not meel the hedpe accounting eriteria.
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24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2013
LL mitfion LL million
Quoted
Lebanese treasury bills — Eurobonds 24,032 216,656
Delt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 2,513 2,440
Equity securities 40,065 35,669
66,610 254765
Unqiroted o
Lebanese treasury bills — denominated in LL 293,990 10,348
Certificates of deposil issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon
denominated in LL 428,572 27,714
Corporate bonds - J.0ls
T m2562 41,080
TS, 172 295 R45
25 NET LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTIZED COST
2016 2013
LL milfion LL mritfion
Commercial loans 5,253,773 5,197,877
Consumer loans 2,824 387 2,597.621
8.078,160 7,795,498
Less:
- Individual impairment allowances (158,278) (183,718)
- Collective impairment allowances (78,643) (131.448)
- Unrealized interest (53,964) (BDL671)
TI787275 7,399,640

Bad loans and related provisions and unrealized interest which fulfill certain requirements have been transferred o
off financial position accounts. The gross balance of these loans amounted to LL 167,558 million as of 31

December 2016 (2015: LL 118,539 million).

Movement of unrealized interest on substandard, doubtiul, and bad loans during the year was as follows:

Total
LL milfion

80,671

26,155
07
(30,551}
{3.670)
{7,263)
12,611
(17,798)
(6,398)

s
Commercial Consumer
foans foans
LL millian LL milfion
Balance ot 1 January 79,172 1,499

Add (less):

- Unrealized interest for the year 4,122 2033
- Transfer from off financial position 206 1
- Transfer to oft financial position {30,552} -
= Recoverics (note 14) (31607 (510)
- Amounts wrilten off (7,222) (41}
- Acquisition of a subsidiary 12,612 -
- Deconsalidation of subsidiaries (17,713 (85)
- Difterence of exchange {6,376) (21)
Balance at 31 December 51,089 1R75

53,964
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25 NET LOANS AND ADYANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTIZED COST {continued)

e[ TR -
Commercial Consumer
foans foans Towal
LL miflion LL million LL million
Balance at 1 January 971217 245 97.462
Add (less):
- Unrealized imerest for the vear 23,207 1,623 24,830
- Transfer from oft financial posilion 66l - 114
- Transfer to off financial position (23,165) . 123,163%)
- Recoveries (note 14) (4.751) [ 160} 4.911)
= Amounts written off {4,003) (35) (4,038
- Difference of exchange {9,994) (174 (10,168)
Balance at 31 December TN EF] 1,499 80,671
Movement of the individual impairment allowances during the year was as follows:
016
Commercial Conswmer
foriens loans Total
LL mitfion LL miflion LL miflfion
Balance at 1 January 97,435 86,303 183,738
Add (less):
- Charge for the vear (note 14) 5717 18,768 24,485
= Amounts written off (2,530) (3809 {2,910)
= Recoveries (note 14) (6,622) (7,184) (13.806)
- Transfer to oft financial position (14,524) - (14,524)
- Transfer o collective impairment allowances (1,432) (8) (1,440)
- Acquisition of a subsidiary 9224 - 92224
= Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (19,336) (600) (19.936)
- Difference of exchange (6,3046) (247) (6,553)
Balance at 31 December 61,626 96,652 158,278
Gross amount of loans individually determined to be impaired 225,317 145,169 IT0486
2005 .
Conunercial Cansnmer
foans foans Total!
LL millian LE million LE miflion
Balance at 1 January 149,293 73,387 222 680
Add (less):
= Charge for the year (note 14) 11,430 21,463 32913
- Transfer from commercial o consumer (64) i -
= Amounts written oftf (4.378) (443) (4.821)
- Recoveries (note 14) (10,639 {7.091) (17.730)
- Transfer to off financial posilion (40,978) - (40.978)
- Transfer from collective impairment allowances 6,704 493 7197
- Difference of exchange (13,953) (1.570) (15,523)
Balance at 31 December 97435 86,303 183,738
Gross amount of loans individually determined 1o be impaired 233,616 132,748 366,364
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25 NET LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTIZED COST (continued}

Maovement of the collective impairment allowances during the year was as follows:

Balance at 1 January

Add (lessk:

- Charge for the vear (note 14)

- Recoveries (note 14)

« Transfer from individoal impairment allowances

- Transfer from provisions for risks and charges (note 37)
- Acquisition of a subsidiary

- Deconsolidation of subsidiarics

- Difference of exchange

Balance at 31 December

Balance at 1 January

Add (lessk

= Charze for the year (note 14)

- Transfer from commercial to consumer

- Transfer to individual impaimment allowances
- Difterence of exchange

Balance at 31 December

26 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

Quoted
Lebanese treasury bills — Eurabonds
Foreign governmental delt securities
ekt securities issued by banks and lnancial institutions
Corporate bonds

Ungreoted

Lebanese treasury bills - denominated in LL

Ceriificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon —
denominated in LL

Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon —
EuraCDs

Corporate bonds

Certificates of deposit issued by banks and financial institutions

2014
Connnercial Consiimer T
foans faans Toral
LE million LL mitlion LL million
120,551 10,597 131,448
4,235 1,016 5,251
(19.660) = {19,660)
1,432 5 1440
1,532 - 1,532
798 19 817
(21,430) (26) 121,456)
{20,728) (1) {20,729)
66,730 11913 78,643
2013
Commercial Consumiar
foans loans Total
LL million LL million LL million
137,278 v B3T 148,135
3450 - 3450
{588) 588 .
(6,704 (403} (7.197)
{12 885) {35) (12,940
120,551 10,807 131,448
2016 2005
LL mitlion LL miltian
2,099,538 2,038,651
138,11} 125,272
5,477 235,213
635 5,788
2,243,763 2,394,926
2,657,946 1.813.756
2525812 3,503,859
1,956,230 170,570
- 216
33,228 33,1%7
7,173,216 8,121,588
2416979 10,516,514
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2014 2015

LE miftion LE million

Quoted shares 44,388 48,241
Unquoted shares 56,917 53,666
101,305 101,907

The table below details the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 December:

2046 2005

Cunnilative Cunulative
Carrving  fair vafwe  Dividend Careving  fairvalue  Dividend
anrearnt changes incomnre amarin changes income

LEL miftion  EL miffion  LL million LL miftion  LLmilfien LL wiflion

Unguoted shares:

Banque de 1"Habitat SAL 19,213 24,025 548 26,647 21,459 462
[ntra Investment Company SAL 17,591 4,567 - 17,591 4,567

[nterbank Payment Metwork (1PR) AL 1,363 360 - 1,360 5T 31
Arab Trade Financing Program 2118 016 - 2118 26

[mpact Fund 1237 - - 1,569 -

Others 4,095 333 - 4,381 335

Cluoted shares;

Jordan Ahli Bank 44,358 {36,026) 1865 48,241 (32,173) 1870

101,305 (6,115 4413 101,907 (4,509) 4,383

Dividend income amounted 1o LL 4,413 million for the vear ended 31 December 2016 (2015: LL 4,383 million)
and resulted from equity instruments held at vear end (2015: the same).

18 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Mator and Advance
Brutldings velfcles  egedpmrent Deposfts paymens Toral
LE milfion  LE milfion LE miflion  LL millfon  LL mrillfon LE milfion
Cost:
A1 January 20016 265,139 3,135 236,161 6ET 4,131 509,253
Additions 7083 227 18,091 i3 9,542 35011
Translers - - 1.00% (39) (950) -
Disposals - (76} (949) . - {1.025)
Foreign exchange difference (13,649 {285) {5,548) 8y - (19,4909
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (10,557 (213) (5,148) - 119y (16,037)
At 31 December 2016 HBMG 2,78% 243616 (1] 12,604 07,712
Depreciation:
Al January 2016 39804 2270 191,964 . . 254,128
Depreciotion during the year 6,438 297 13,690 . - 22425
Related to disposals - {76} [583) - . [B59)
Foreign exchange difference {3.287) (304) (5.032) - - {8.623)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (2,458) (1440 {4,056) - % {6,654)
At 31 December 2016 60,587 2,047 197,983 : - 260,617
Met carryving value:
At 31 December 2006 187,429 741 45633 688 12,604 247,095
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28 FPROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT {continued)

Furniture
Meator aried Advarnice
Buildings vehicles  equipment Deposits paymenis Total
LEL miffien  LL million LL million  LL mitlion  LL million L million
Cost:
Al January 20013 243194 2,680 221,739 T03 1,546 471,921
Additions 23,661 636 16,770 - 2805 45,972
Transfers - - 113 . {313) -
Disposals - (165) {969y - - (1,134)
Foreign exchange difference 13,716) (25) 13,742) (16) 7 (7,506)
At 31 December 2015 265,139 3,135 236,14l i 4,131 509253
Depreciation; i o
At 1 January 2015 34,500 2390 178,583 - - 235542
Depreciation during the year 5872 178 17416 - - 23466
Related to disposals - (165) (801) - - (966)
Foreign exchange difference (547) (135 (3,234 - - (3,914
At 31 December 2015 59,894 2,270 191,964 - - 254128
Met carrying value: =

AL 31 December 20135 205245 B65 44,197 [ 4,131 255125

The cost of buildings at 31 December 2016 and 2013 include the revaluation differences of properiies valued
during prior years in accordance with law 282 dated 30 December 1993, and approved by the Central Committee
of the Bank of Lebanon.

Revaluation differences on property and equipment reflected as revaluation reserve of real estate in equity
amounted to LL 5,689 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015 the same) (note 43).

29 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2016 2013
LL mitfian LL million
Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December 2,303 2.303
Accumulated amortization: o .
ALl January 1,810 1.651
Amortization expense for the vear 113 159
At 31 December 1,923 1,810
Met carrying value:
At 31 December 380 493

3%



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

30 ASSETS OBTAINED IN SETTLEMENT OF DERT

2016 2003
LL million LL million
Cost;
At 1 January 47,165 41.836
Additions 1,836 5,784
Disposals (1,543) (455)
AL31 December 48458 47,165
Impairment: B
AL 1 January and 31 December (5,159) (5,159)
Net carrving value: -
At 31 December 43,299 42,006
Advance payments received in connection with future sale transactions for the above assets amounted to LL
373 million as of 31 December 20016 (2015: LL 3,442 million) (note 36).
3 OTHER ASSETS
2016 20135
LL miflion LL million
Obligatory deposits 8 2,250 15,365
Other assets b 107,595 88,730
Deferred tax assets (note 17) 593 3,906
110,438 101,001

a) Obligatory deposits consist of deposits at a percentage of the share capital of subsidiary banks that were
blocked at incorporation as a guarantee with the awhoritics. These deposits shall be returned to the
subsidiary banks without any interest upon liquidation of their activities.

b} Other assets comprise of the following:

2016 2015

LL mitlion LE million

Prepaid rent 3,140 3270
Printings and stationery 3415 3279
Credit card balances due from customers 27,307 17.611
[Insurance premiums receivable 4,365 3.3
Reinsurers’ share of technical reserves of subsidiary insurance companies 41,025 37.025
Receivables from the National Social Security Fund 12,361 11,487
Other debit balances 15,982 12,757
107,595 BB 730
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32 DUE TO CENTRAL BANKS
2016 2013
LL mififon LE miflion
Current accounts 2,163 5,297
Time deposits - 6,245
Loans due to the Central Bank of Lebanon 126,754 103,515
Loan due to the Central Bank of Armenia 2,150 1,997
Accrued interest payable 1,904 358
332,971 7412

Laans due to the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon:

The Group signed a credit agreement with the Central Bank of Lebanon based on the provisions of Decision
no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 relating to the facilities which can be granted by the Central Bank of Lebanon w
banks. The balance amounted to LL 176,622 million as of 31 December 2006 (2015: LL 102,128 million).

The Bank pledged as collateral against this balance certificates of representation signed by the Bank's
customers.

During 2010, the Group obtained 3 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon to finance customers afTected by
July 2006 war. These loans were originally granted in the amount of LL 8 810 million, out of which LL 1,895
million matured during 2013 and LL 3,528 million matured during 2015. These loans are secured by the
pledge of Lebanese treasury bills amounting to LL 1,387 million included under financial assets given as
collateral as of 31 December 2016 (2015: the same) (note 22).

During 2016, the Group obtained 2 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon to finance the merger of the
assets and liahilities of Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL. These loans were originally granted in the amount of
LL 221.000 million netted by a discount of LL 72,255 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil) and are
secured by the pledge of Lebanese treasury bills amounting to LL 221,000 million included under finaneial

assets given as collateral as of 31 December 2016 {note 22).

33 DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

26 2015
LL milfion LL miflton
Bonks:

- Current accounts 111,924 81,537
- Term loans 164,177 165,484
- Time deposits 168,332 223,177
- Cash margins 153,710 82,810
- Accrued interest payable 2,001 3,131
600,144 556,739
Financial insiitutions: o -
- Current accounts 7,118 3.644
- Term loans 121,786 149,286
- Time deposits 38473 1,750
= Accrued interest payable 1,449 1,518
168,826 176,198

Registered exchange companies: B
- Current accounts 462 2,975
- Time deposits 4,558 7,024
- Accrued interest payable 15 19
5035 10,018
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33 DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (continued)

Brakerage instifmiionus:
- Current accounts
- Time deposits
- Accrued interest payable

M CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS AT AMORTIZED COST

Current accounts

Term deposits

Cash margins

Accrued interest payable

A5 DEBT ISSUED AND OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Mateerity

Bonds
Issue 2011 24/06/2021
Acerued interest payable

Interest
rife
&

7.00

2006
LL mififan

2045
LL mitlion

90 102

- 1,488

- 9

90 1.599
774,095 744,554
2016 2013

LEL miffion LE million
3,244,752 3,241,519
20,891,474 20,176,288
1,151,475 1.114,643
127,933 121,948
25,415,634 24,654,398
2016 20135

LL miflion LL wiltion
443,456 444,583

(3 [ 616
444072 145,199

The Bank has undertaken not to use any of the proceeds of the issue in Sudan, Syria or Democratic Republic of
Congo. The Bank shall pay interest on the bonds without deduction or withholding for taxes. The bonds are
redeemable, in whole or in part, at the oplion of the Bank at any time after the first anniversary of the issue date,
in the event of changes in the Lebanese tax law that will resull in taxes on interest on the bonds in excess of the

current applicable tax rate,
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36  OTHER LIABILITIES

2016 2015
LL miftion LL million
Accrued expenses 326 29,015
Fixed assets suppliers 624 607
Unearned commission and interest 5,903 5274
Cash margins related to companies under establishment 1,663 2,220
Insurance premiums received in advance J.841 32
Payables to the National Social Security Fund 2065 1,851
Advance payments linked to assets obtained in settlement of debt {note 30} 373 3,442
Current tax liability {a) 133,493 50,771
Deferred tax liability (note 17) 4,323 3,273
Put options on non-controlling interests 4,791 1%.263
Amounts 1o be incurred upon acquisition (note 5) 44,083 -
Escrow account (note 5) 5,758 -
Deferred revenues (b) 126,682 .
Other ereditors 34998 19,629
399813 147,567
fea) Current tax fichility
2016 2013
LL million LL million
Income tax due (note 17) 120,930 37,70
Withholding tax on salaries 2,210 1.095
Withholding tax on interest carned by customers 6,213 6,717
Value added tax 527 396
Other taxes 2,913 2,830

133,493 30,771

ih) Deferved revenues

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Intermediate Circular number 446 dated 30 December 2016
relating to the gain realized by banks from certain financial transactions with the Central Bank of Lebanon,
consisting of the sale of financial instruments denominated in Lebanese Lira and the purchase of financial
instruments denominated in US Dollars. In accordance with the provisions of this eircular, banks should recognize
in the income statement, only part of the gain net of tax, caped to the extent of the losses recorded to comply with
recent regulatory provisioning requirements (refer to note 37), the impairment losses on subsidiaries and goodwill
recorded in accordance with 1AS 36 and IFRS 3 respectively and the shortage needed to comply with the capital
adequacy requirements. Lebanese banks may tfurther recognize up to 70% of the remaining balance of the gain
realized net of 1ax in the income statement as non-distributable profits to be appropristed 10 reserves for capital
increase, qualifving for inclusion within regulatory Common Equity Tier One,

The Group did not recognise in its consolidated income statement LL 126,682 million (net of tax) in gains realized
from certain financial transactions with the Central Bank of Lebanon, The related taxes amounting to LL 22,402
million were recorded directly in current tax liability (refer to note 17). The amount recorded as deferred revenues
qualifies for inclusion within regulatory Tier 2 Capital in accordance with the provisions of the circular,
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37 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

20116 2015

LL miftion LL milfion

Technical reserves of insurance subsidiaries 929,914 94,341
Emplovees’ end of service benefits (a) 49,189 45,754
Other provisions (b) 126,287 31,443
275,390 171,538

fal Emplovees’ end of service benefiis

The Bank has two defined benefit plans covering substantially all of its emplovees. The first requires
contributions to be made to the National Soctal Security Fund. The entitlement to and level of these end of
service benelits provided depends on the employees’ length of service, the emplovees' salaries, contributions paid
1o the National Social Security Fund and other requirements outlined in the Lebanese Labor Law. Under the
second plan, no contributions are required to be made, however a fixed end of service lump sum amount should
be paid for long service employees. The entitlement 1o and level of these end of service benefits provided
depends on the employees’ length of service, the emplovees’ salaries and other requirements outlined in the
Waorkers” Collective Agreement. End-of-service benefits for employees at foreign branches and subsidiaries are
acerued for in accordance with the laws and regulations of the respective countries in which the branches and
subsidiaries are located.

Movement in the provision for employvees’ end of service benefits during the year was as follows:

2016 2015
LL milfion LL millton
Balance at 1 January 45,754 46,320
Costs chavged to the income statemment (note 15):

Service costs 4,360 4,442
Past service cosls - (4,322)
Met interest 1,925 3483
7,285 3405

Re-measurement fosses {gaing) in other comprehensive income:
Experience adjustments 99 (474)
99 (474)
Acquisition of a subsidiary 1,349 -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (753) -
End of service benefits paid during ihe year {3 487) (3,325)
Foreign exchange (1,058) {172)
Balance at 31 December 49,1589 45,754
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37 FROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)
fa)  Ewmplavees” end of service benefits feontinued)

Defined benefit plans in Lebanon constitute more than 83% of the Group®s retirement obligation, The principal
assumptions used in determining the end of service benefit obligations of these plans are shown below:

2016 2013
Economic assumptions

Discount rate B.5% 8.5%
Future salary increase 5.5% 3.5%
Future expected return on contributions 5.0% 5.0%%
Bonus Last 2-years average Last 2-ycars average
as a % of basic as a % of basic

Demographic assumptions
Retirement age Earliest of 64 or completion  Earliest of 64 or completion
of 20 contribution years of 20 contribution years
Mortality rate None Mone
Turnover rate 2.0% 2.0%

A quantitative sensitivity analysis as a result of an increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the significant
assumptions as at 31 December 2016 and 20135 is shown as below:

Fufure expected reluen on

_ DMscanni rate Fuiture salary increase canfribnfions
Increase decrease fitcrease decrease Increase decrease
LE million LL millian LL million LEL million LEL mitiion LI meiilien
Impact on net defined benefin
obligntions
2006 (1,397 1LA01 FRE] {2,830 {1,415) 1,377
2015 {1,246) 1,338 2847 12,509) (1,276) 1,236

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net
defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumplions occurring at the end of the
reparting period.

bl Other pravisions

2016 2045

LL miflion LL million

Excess provisions {note 36) (*) 102,480 -
Provisions for contingencies 9,661 15,720
Provisions for legal claims 4,523 10,254
Other 9,623 5469
126,287 BEIRTE!
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37 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)

(*) During November 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Intermediate Circular number 439 which
required banks operating in Lebanon to constitute collective provisions equivalent to 2% of consolidated risk
weighted loans and advances to customers, As such, provisions for risks and charges as at 31 December 2016
include an amount of LL 102,480 million in excess of the provisioning requirements of [AS 39 (2015 nil).

Movement in other provisions during the year was as follows:

At | January

Charge for the year

Acguisition of a subsidiary

Write back during the year (note 13)

Transfer to colleclive provisions on loans and advances (note 25)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Foreign exchange

At 31 December

38 SUBORDINATED DEBT

Mominal value
Unamortized discount
Acerued interest pavable

2016 2015

LE mitfion LE millian
31,443 9,035
123,21} 21,394
1,410 -
(3,073) =
(1,532) :
(23,84%) -
(1,320) 1.014
126,287 31443
2016 20f35

LL milfion LL miflion
441,692 441,692
(21,690) (24.455)
163 163
420,165 417,400

On 21 December 2012, the Bank signed a USS 300 million subordinated loan agreement with an international
financial institwtion, whereby the latter acted as an issuer of USS 300 million subordinated notes convertible into
Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR’s according o the following terms:

Mumber of notes: J0.000

Mote's issue price: USS 10,000

Mole's nominal value: LI5S 10,000

Date of issue: 21 December 2012

Maturity: 21 December 2022, subject to the earlier conversion of these notes, in whole

or in part, into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR's at a price of USS 2.5 per

share or USS 123 per GDR

Interest rate: Contractual interest rate of 6.5% pavable semi-annually,
Rights of holders; The noteholder has the right to convert all or portion of the subordinated notes
into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR's at a conversion price of USS 2.5 per

share or USS 125 per GDR.

The convertible subordinated loan (net of subordinated notes held by a consolidated subsidiary) were recorded at

issuance as follows:

Nominal value of convertible bonds
Equity component

Liability component

LL miftion

441,692
(31,618)

410,074

The equity cemponent of the converlible subordinated loan is recorded in equity under “non-distributable

reserves” (note 407,
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19 SHARE CAPITAL

2016 2015 B

Noaf Share Share Noaf Share Share

shares capifal  prembum shares capital  premivm

LL mitlion  LL miflion LL million  LL million

Common shares 265,515,040 684,273 219014 565,515,040 684,273 229014
565,515,040 684,273 219014 565,515,040 684,273 Egm

Preferred shares

- Series 2008 2,000,000 2420 295,154 2,000,000 2,420 295,154
- Series 20049 2,000,000 2,420 205,929 2,000,000 2.420 295,929
4,000,000 4,840 591,083 4,000,000 4840 591083

The capital of the Bank is divided into 569,515,040 shares of LL 1,210 each fully paid (2013: the same).

Preferred shares

i Series 2008 Preferved Shares
On 15 August 2008, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on 18 July 2008, the
Bank issued Series 2008 preferred shares, according to the following terms:

Mumber of shares:
Share's issue price:
Share’s nominal value:
Issue premium ;

Benefits;

Repurchase right:

2,000,000

LSS 100

LL 1,200

LISS (000) 195,790 (equivalent to LL 295,154 million) caleulated in LSS as
the difference between the total issue of USS (0007 200,0(H) and the total par
value of the issue amounting to LL 2,400 million and after deducting issuance
commission for the issue amounting to LSS (000) 2,618,

Mon-cumulative annual dividends of USS 800 per share, subject to the
availability of non-consolidated disiribulable net protits.

Redeemable (a1 a date subsequent to the approval of 2013 accounts by the
general assembly) at the Bank’s option at the issue price plus any declared
but unpaid distributions for all the vears preceding the year of the call, with
the condition that at least 25% of the original number of the preferred shares
are called each time,

In 2004, the par value of series 2008 preferred shares was increased trom LL 1,200 to LL 1,210,
if} Series 2009 Preferred Shares

On 4 September 2009, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on | August 2009,
the Bank issued Series 2009 preferred shares according to the following terms:

Wumber of shares:
Share's issue price:
Share’s nominal value:
[ssue premium :

Benefits:

Repurchase right:

2,000,000

LSS 96

LL 1,210

LISS (000) 188,313 (equivalent 1o LL 283,881 million) calculated in USS as the
difference between the total issue of USS (000) 192,000 and the total par value
of the issue amounting to LL 2,420 million and after deducting issuance
commissions of USS (000) 2,082,

Mon-cumulative anoual dividends of USS 800 per share, subject to the
availability of non-consolidated distributable net profits.

Redeemable (at a date subsequent to the approval of 2014 accounts by the
general assembly) at the Bank’s option at USS 100 plus any deelared but unpaid
distributions for all the years preceding the vear of the call, with the condition
that at least 25% of the original number of the preferred shares are called cach
time.
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39 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Listing of shares
Asof 31 December the Bank’s shares were listed as follows:

2016 2013
Stock exchange No af shares No of shares
Ordinary shares Beirut 202,135,490 302,605,340
Global depository receipts (%) London SEAQ and Beirut 1,267,591 1,258,194
Preferred shares Beirut 4,000,000 &, O CHMD
(*) Global Depository Reecipts (GDRs) can be issued al a ratio of 30 Common Shares per one GDR.
40 NON DISTRIBUTABLE RESERYES
Equiny
component of Reserve for
Heserves cenvertible gemeral
Legal  forcapital  swbordinged henking Ciher
reserve increase debt risks resenes Total
LE miiflion DL millian LE mliion  LLmillion  LL milfion LL nillian
Batance at | January 2016 271,877 05,105 .68 271,570 175,714 B15,884
Approprigtion from retained eamings 23,158 31433 - 70982 7,249 61,822
Transfer to retained camings (1,581) - - - (6,5659) (8,450
Met loss on sale of treasury shares - (118) - - - (118)
Translation difference (10,504) - - (969) (14,345) (25818)
Balance al 31 December 2006 282,650 68,420 31618 198 583 162,049 B43,320
Balance at 1 January 2015 247 366 61,790 1618 244,125 163,980 TAR BT
Appropriation from retained eamings 24,511 i . 28,596 11,734 0k, 168
Reclassification to distributghle resemve - - (1,130 - (1,130
et loss on sale of treasury shares - (12 - - - (12)
Translation difference - . - (20} - (20
Balance at 31 December 2015 271877 65105 31618 271370 175714 815884
Legal reserve

According to the Lebanese Code of Commerce and to the Code of Money and Credit, the Bank is required to
transter 10% of their annual net profit to a legal reserve. In addition, subsidiaries and branches are also subject to
legal reserve requirements based on the rules and regulations of the countries in which they operate, This reserve

cannot be distributed as dividends,

During 2016, the Group appropriated LL 23,158 million from 2015 profits to the legal reserve (2005: LL 24,511

million).
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40 NON DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (continued)

Reserves for capital increase

This represents regulatory reserves constituled in accordance with circulars issued by the Central Bank of
Lebanon and the Banking Contral Commission, These reserves cannet be distributed as dividends and comprise
the following:

2016 2015

LL million LL million

Reserve equivalent to gain on sale of assets acquired in settilement of debi 32,339 30,676
Reserve equivalent to provisions recovered 9,737 9,737
Reserve against assets oblained in settlement of debt 16,849 15,079
Reserve against realized gain from liquidation of fixed position 5870 8.870
Others 625 743
68,420 65,103

Reserve for general hanking risks

According to the Central Bank of Lebanon regulations, banks are required to appropriate from their annual net
profit a minimum of 0.2% and a maximum of 0.3% of total risk weighted asseis and off statement of financial
position items based on rates specified by the Central Bank of Lebanon to cover general banking risks, The
consolidated ratio should not be less than 1.25% of these risks at the end of year ten (20017) and 2% at the end of
vear twenly (2027)., This reserve cannot be distributed as dividends,

The appropriation in 2016 from the profits of the year 2015 amounted to LL 27,982 million (2015: LL 28,596
million).

Other reserves
Other reserves consist of the following:

= During 2013, the Group transferred an amount of LL 31077 million from retained eamings 1o other reserves
related Lo the subordinated debt.

- Non-distribitable reserves of subsidiaries appropriated from retained earnings as required by the laws applicable
in the countries in which they operate, During 2016, the Group transferred an amount of LL 4,781
million from retained camings to other reserves in this respect (2013: LL 9,039 million).

- According to BCC Circular no 280 dated 2 January 2015, banks are required to appropriate from their annual
profit 0.5% ol performing retail loans up to 30 days past due (with certain exemptions) as at 31 December 2014
with effect the year 2015, Additionally, the Bank will appropriate an additional 0.5% every vear until 2020,
During 2016, the General Assembly Meeting of the Bank allocated an amount of LL 2,468 million as a reserve
for retail loans (2013: LL 2,695 million).

- Asof 31 December 2016, "Other reserves” include reserves of LL 89,368 million maintained by the subsidiary
Byblos Bank Europe 1o meet several legal limits and requirements (2015 LL 87 451 million),

41 DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

2016 2015

LL miflion LL million

General reserves 102,220 93,789
Other capital reserves 1,026 5,422
103,246 aa.211
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41 DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (continued)

Ceneral reserves

The Group appropriates general reserves from its retained eamings 1o sirengthen its equity. The movement in

general reserves during the year was as follows:

Al January

Appropriation from retained earnings
Acquisition of additional non-controlling interests
Reversal of put options on non-controlling interests

Impact from derecognition of non-controlling interests

Reclassification from non-distributable reserves

At 31 December

Other capital reserves

Premium on capital increase of Byblos Bank Armenia CJSC
Premium on capital increase of Byblos Bank Africa

42 TREASURY SHARES

2016 2115

LL milfion LEL miflion
93,789 0,521
5,629 2,047
(1,861) -
4,603 -

- a0

- 1,131

102,220 93,789
2016 2015

LL srififon LL million
1,026 10X

- 4,396

1,026 5422

Movement of treasury shares recognized in the statement of financial position for the years 2016 and 2015 was as

follonws:

Year ended 31 December 2016

At 1 Janvary 20006
Acquisitions of treasury shares
Sales of treasury shares

At 31 December 2016

Tonal treasury shares in LL million

Year ended 31 December 2013

At 1 Janvary 2015
Acquisitions of treasury shares
Sales of treasury shares

At 31 December 2013

Tonal treasury shares in LL million

Comman shares Glabal Depository Receipts
Mo, of shares Amaunt Mo, af shares Awraeene
US5r000) LSS0
151237 3797 8,690 TI8
196,757 404 151 )
(H5,812) {1.605) - -
1,532,182 2,686 8,941 T
3T

Commicn shares

CHobal Depasitory Receipts

No. af shares Amtosit Now af shares Amown
LIS i, LSS0

1047426 1.652 1273 610
205,495 329 147 108
(101,684) (154) : 4
2,151,237 3,797 8690  TI8
6807

69




Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE C.UNS(}I JDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

43 REVALUATION RESERVE OF REAL ESTATE

2016 2015

LL miftion LL million

Revaluation reserve accepled in Tier 11 capital 1,978 1.97%
Revaluation reserve not aceepted in Tier I capital 3711 37
5,689 5,689

44 CHANGE IN FAIR YALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR YALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement of the change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during the
vear was as follows:

2016 2005
LE million LEL milfion
At 1 January (7,961) 17,533)
Met changes in fair values during the vear (1,306) (503)
Met changes in deferred taxes 194 75
Difference on exchange (8) -
Balance at 31 December (2,081) (7,961)
45 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2016 2003
LL mififon LL mifiion
Cash and balances with central banks 2,087,238 2,129,121
Due from banks and financial institutions 2,568,139 2410,574
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements 850,346 662,486
5,505,923 5,202,181
Less: Due to central banks (5,65T) (13,723)
Less: Due to banks and financial institutions (413,154) (422,258)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 5,087,112 _'4,?66,200

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered 1o be related if one party has the ability to contral the other parly or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other party controls both, The
definition includes subsidiaries, key management personnel and their close family members, as well as entities
controlled or jointly controlled by them.

A list of the Group's principal subsidiaries is shown in note 4. Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries
meet the definition of related party transactions. However, where these are eliminated on consolidation, they are not
disclosed in the Group's financial statements.

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the Dircetors and the Officers of the
Giroup,
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46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Loans 1o related parties, (a) were made in the ordinary course of business, (b) were made on substantially the
same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable
transactions with others and {e) did not involve more than a normal risk of collectability or present other
untavorable features.

Related party balances included in the Group®s consolidated statement of financial position are as follows as of
31 December:

- 31 December 2016 H December 2015

Nf}' KE‘}'

aRagement RITRIgE M
personiel Cither Toral personnel Cither Tatal
LE miflien  LL milfion  LE miftion LL mittion L million LL miifion
Due from banks and financial institutions - 31,227 3. - 1,803 1,803
Loans and advances 6,277 14,137 0,714 5548 4951 35,275
Due te banks and financial institutions - 93,383 93,353 . 44439 44,459
Deposits Lid4 431 261,596 66,027 142183 283 564 425749
Debt issued and ether borrowed funds 977 977 1,954 085 985 1,970
Subordinated debt I8 17,756 15,124 i 18,165 18,542
Guaramtees receivad 6,796 5276 12,072 6,062 12910 184972
Guaraniees given 50 423 N3 &0 28 108
Commitrnents (including accepiances) 1535 FAL 4034 1,403 6451 TR

Related party transactions included in the Group’s consolidated income statement are as follows for the year
ended 31 December:

31 December 1016 A December 2015
Key Key
managenent TG ERT
personnel iher Toral personngl (ker Teral
LL million  LE miflion  LL miillion LLmilhvane LL silhvon LL siliion
Interest income on dug from banks and
financial inslitulions . 429 419 . . -
Interest income on loans and advances 34z 1,266 1,628 319 1,550 1,869
[nterest expense on dz2posits 781 11,323 15,104 8677 7038 15715
[nterest expense on due to hanks and
financial institutions - 1,459 1,459 . 1,380 1,580
[nterest expense on debt ssued and other
borrowed funds [ 64 136 6% 6% 138
[nterest expense on subordinated debt 4 1,141 1,165 25 1,167 1,192
Rent expense - 4 544 = 544 544

In addition to the above, the Group entered into an agreement with the International Finance Corporation (1FC)
whereby the latter makes available a non-committed trade finance guarantee facility o the Group up to USS 50
million. As at 31 December 2016, guarantees issued by IFC amounted to LL 27,677 million (2015: LL 1,639
million).

Compensation of the Key Management Personnel of the Group
2016 2045
LL miftien  LL million

Short-term benefits! 12,774 11,984

! Shars-term benefils comprise of walaries, bonuies, prafit-shaving, attendance fees and ather shart-term henefits to key manggement
personne!,
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47 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

Credit-related commitments and contingent liahilities
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various commitments, guarantees and other
contingent liabilities, which are mainly credit-related instruments ineluding financial and other guaraniees and
commilments to extend credit. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the statement of financial
position, they do contain credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group. The table below
discloses the nominal principal amounts of credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities. Mominal
principal amounts represent the amount at risk should the contracts be fully drawn upon and clients default, Asa
significant portion of guarantees and commitments is expected to expire without being withdrawn, the total of
the nominal principal amount is not indicative of future liquidity requirements.
2016
Banks Customers Totaf
LL mitlion LL miflion LL miition

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

Financial guaraniees - 217,934 217,934
Other guarantees 176,854 819,799 296,653
T176,854 1,037,733 1,214,587
Commitments
Documentary credits 159,909 185,773 345,682
Loan commitments - 2,979,622 2,979,622
159,909 3,165,195 _3.325,.1“4
2015
Banks Customers Total
L million LEL mitfion LEL miltion
Guarantees and contingent liahilities
Financial guaramees - 205,966 205,966
{ther guaranteds 276,315 883,162 1,161,477
276,315 1,091,128 1,367,443
Commitments - )
Dacumentary credits 238,008 150,647 38655
Loan commitments - 2,335,807 2,355,807
238,008 2506454 2743462
Crvsraiifees

Guarantees are given as security to support the performance of a customer to third parties. The main types of
guarantees provided are:
s Financial guarantees given to banks and financial institwtions on behall of customers to secure loans,
overdrafls, and other banking facilities; and
#  Other guarantees provided include mainly performance guarantees, advance payment guaraniees and
tender guarantees.

Documentary crediis
Documentary credits commit the Group to make payments to third parties, on preduction of documents, which
are usually reimbursed immediately by customers,

Loan commitments
Loan commitments are defined amounts (unutilized eredit lines or undrawn portions of credit lines) against
which clients can borrow money under defined terms and conditions.
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47 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
{continued}

Investment commitments

During 2016 and 2013, the Group invested in funds pursuant to the provisions of Decision no, 6116 dated 7
March 1996, In accordance with this resolution, the Group can benefit from facilities granted by the Central
Bank of Lebanon to be invested in startup companies, incubators and accelerators whose objects are restricted to
supporting the development, success and growth of startup companies in Lebanon or companies whose objects
are restricted to investing venture capital in startup companies in Lebanon, These invesiments have resulied in
future commitments on the Group of LL 3,952 million as of 31 December 2016 (2015: LL 6.057 million).

Legal claims

Litigation is a common oceurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The
Group has formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained
and the amount of loss has been reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjusiments to account for any adverse
effects which the ¢laims may have on its financial standing. At year end, the Group had several unresolved legal
claims. Based on advice from legal counsel, management believes that legal ¢laims will not result in any
financial loss to the Group.

Lease arrangements

Operaling feases — Gronp as fessee

The Group has entered inte commercial leases on premises, These leases have an average life of between five
and ten years. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable eperating leases as a1 31 December are as follows:

206 2015

LI mriffion LL million

Within one year 1,546 7
After one year but not more than five years 9,333 10,581
More than five years 9,977 11,491
22,856 25,289

Other contingencies

Certain areas of the Lebanese tax legislation are subject to different interpretations in respect of the taxability of
certain types of Anancial transactions and activities. Fiscal years from 2012 to 2013 are currently being reviewed
by the Depariment of Income Tax, the outcome of which cannot be presently determined. Fiscal yvear 2016
remains open o review by the tax authorities. Management believes that the effect of any such review will not
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

48 ASSETS HELD IN CUSTODY AND UNDER ADMINISTRATION

2016 205
LL miltion LL mitltion
Assets held in custody and under administration 3,068,782 3120838

Assets held in custody and under administration

Custody is the salekeeping and servicing of securities and other financial assets on behall of clients.
Administration includes the provision of various support functions activities including the valuation of portfolios
of sceurities and other financial assets on behalf of cliens, which complements the custody business,
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values in this note are stated at a specific date and may be different from the amounts which will
actually be paid on the maturity or selttlement dates of the instrument. In many cases, it would not be possible o
realize immediately the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair
values do not represent the value of these instruments to the Group as a going concern,

Financial assets and liahilities are classified according to a hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable
market inputs. The three levels of the fair value hicrarchy are defined below.

Quaoted market prices — Level 1

Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an active market. Such instruments are
valued by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted
price is readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly occurring markel transactions on an arm’s
length basis. An active market is one in which transactions oceur with sufficient volume and frequency lo provide
pricing information on an ongaing basis.

Valuation technique using observable inputs — Level 2

Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose most significant inputs are
observable in an active market. Such valuation techniques and models incorporate assumptions about factors
observable in an active market that other market participants would use in their valuations, including interest rate
yield curve, exchange rates, volatilities, and prepayment and defaults rates,

Valuation technigue using significant unobservable inputs - Level 3

Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs). A valuation input is considered observable if it can be directly
observed from transactions in an active market, or if there is compelling external evidence demonstrating an
executable exit price. Unobservable input levels are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar
nature, histarical observations or other analytical techniques.

Fair value measurement hicrarchy of the Group's financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value:

2016 -
Valuutten technigres
Quicted Observable  Unebservable
markel price inpuis inpris
Level ] Level 2 Level 3 Total
LE milifon LL miffion LL milffon  LL mitifan
Assels:
Denvative financial instruments:
Curmency swaps - 1,958 - 1,958
Forward foreign exchange conlracts - 262 - 2462
Financial assets al fair value theough protit or loss:
Lebanese wreasury hills 14,032 193,990 - 315,022
Certilicates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of
Lebanon - 418,572 - 428,572
Debt securities issued by banks and fnancial
institutions 2513 - - 2513
Equity securitics 40,065 - - 40,065
Financial asscts at fair value through other
comprehensive income 14,388 - 56,917 101,305
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments:
Currency swaps - 938 : 938
Forward foreign exchange contracls - 1,168 - 1,168
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carvied at fair value
{continued):

2013

Falwarion technigues
Chuoted Ohservable  Dnebservable

markel price s s
FLevel | Level 2 Level 3 Total
LI miltian LL mifiion L millian LL million
Assels)
Derivative financial insirunsnts:
Cumency swaps - 314 - 314
Forward foreign exchange contracts - 1,530 - 1,530
Financinl assets at fair value through profit or loss:
| ehanese treasury bills 216,656 10,348 = 227004
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of
Lebanon - 27,714 - 27.714
Debt  securities issued by banks and  financial
institutions 2440 . 2440
Corporate honds - 3ms - 3018
Equity securities 35,668 - - 35,669
Financial assets a1 fair valug through other
comprehensive income 48,241 - 33 666 101,907
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments:
Currency swaps - ig - 192
Forward foreign exchange contracts = 2,053 - 2,053

There were no transfers between levels during 2016 (2013: the same),

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique with significant observable inputs
{Level 2)

Derivatives

Derivative products are valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs. The most frequently
applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The
models incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and
forward rates and interest rate curves.

Governmtent bonds, certificates of deposits and offrer debi securities

The Group values these unquoted debt securities using discounted cash flow valuation models where the lowest
level input that is significant to the entire measurement is observable in an active market, These inputs include
assumplions regarding current rates of interest, implied volatilities, credit spreads and broker stalements,

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs
{Level 3)

Equfty shares af non-listed eniities

The Group's sirategic investments are generally classified at fair value through other comprehensive income and
are not traded in active markets. These are investments in private companies, for which there is no or only
limited sulficient recent information to determine fair value. The Group determined that cost adjusted to reflect
the investee’s financial position and results since initial recognition represents the best estimate of fair value,
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurement of financial assets in unquoted equity shares:

2016

LE miffion

Balance at 1 January 53,666
Additions 2,133
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (578)
Re-measurement recognized in other comprehensive income 1,696
56,917

2005
LE miltion

47,732
3.715

2.219

53,666

Comparison of carrying and fair values for financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value:

The fair values included in the table below were calculated for disclosure purposes only. The fair valuation
technigues and assumptions described below relate only to the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments not
measured at fiir value, Other institutions may use different methods and assumptions for their fair value
estimations, and therefore such fair value disclosures cannot necessarily be compared from one institution to

another.
2016 ] 2013 -
Fair  Carrying Fair Carrving
valiue virltie virlie virlue
LL mfition  LL million LL milfian LL miftion
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 8,783,082 8,783,092 7,236,237 7,236,237
Due from banks and financial institutions 2657429 2657419 2518363 2518365
Loans to banks and financial institulions and reverse
repurchase agreement 963,963 264066 1,197,149 1,197,047
Financial assets piven as collateral 215,168 224044 1,399 1,405
Wet loans and advances to customers al amarized cost 7,787,138 7,787,175 T.397 801 7,399,641
Met loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost 20,714 20,714 35,275 35275
Financlal assets i amartized cost
Lebanese treasury hills 4,733,450 4,757 484 3,861,920 5852407
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 4,535,221 4,482.042 4,350,572 4,274,429
Foreign governmental debt securilies 142,680 138,113 130,537 125,272
Deht securities issued by banks and financial institulions 5316 5477 225,708 215,215
Corporate bonds 635 635 6,165 6,004
Centificates of deposit issued by banks and financial
inatitutions A3 2467 33128 13,096 13,187
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Due to central banks 332971 3izem 117412 117412
Due to banks and financial instinnions 774,095 774,055 744,554 14,554
Customers” deposits at amortized cost 25,488,342 1541560 MTIR 163 24654308
Deposits from related partics at amortized cost 12577 366,027 430,493 425 749
[ebt issued and other borrowed funds 442,941 444072 447 460 443,199
Subordinated debt 409,959 420,165 417,400 417,400

Assets and liabilities for which fair value is disclosed using a valuation technique with significant
observable inputs (Level 2) and / or significant unobservable inputs {Level 3)

Deposits with banks and feans and advauces to banks

For the purpose of this disclosure there is minimal difference between fair value and carrying amount of these
financial assets as they are short-term in nature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value of
deposits with longer maturities are estimated using discounted cash flows applying market rates for

counterparties with similar credit quality.
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Governmtent bonds, certificates af deposits and ather debt secirities

The Group values these unquoted debt securities using discounted cash flow valuation models where the lowest
level input that is significant to the entire measurement is observable in an active markel. These inputs include
assumptions regarding current rates of interest, implied volatilities, credit spreads and broker stalements.

Loans and aidvances to cHslomers

For the purpose of this disclosure, in many cases, the fair value disclosed approximates carrying value because
these advances are short-term in nature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value of loans and
advances to customers with long-term maturitics is estimated using discounted cash flows by applying current
rates for new loans granted during 2016 with similar characteristics,

Deposits from banks and customers

In many cases, the fair value disclosed approximates carrying value because these financial liabilitics are short-
term in mature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value for deposits with long-term
maturities, such as time deposits, are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying either markel rates or
current rates for deposits of similar characteristics,

Debt isswed and other borrowed funds anid subardinated debt
Fair values are determined using discounted cash flows valuation medels where the inputs used are estimated by
comparison with quoted prices in an active market for similar instruments.

2016

Valuation fechnigies
Oreoted Observable  Unobservable
market price finpiets inpuits
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
LE milfion LL mitifen LE mililon  LL miliion

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

Cash and balances with central banks 249,425 8,533,667 - 8,783,002
e from banks and financial institotions - 2657429 - 1657419
Loans 1o banks and financial institutions and reverse

repurchase agreement - 963,963 - 963,963
Financial asscts given as collateral - 225,168 - 125,168
Met loans and advances W customers at amortized cost - - 7,787,138 787,138
Met loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost - - 0,714 20,714
Financial assets at amonized cost:

[ebanese treasury hills 2045535 1687915 . 4,733,450

Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of

Lebanon - 4,535,221 - 453511

Foreign governmental debt secunties 142 680 - - 142,680

Diebt securities issued by banks and financial instiluions 5,330 - - 5,136

Corporaie bonds 419 216 - 635

Cerlificates of deposit issued by hanks and financial

institutions - 33,2067 - 33,267

Liabilities for which fair values are discloded:
Due to central banks - Jzen - 3 an
[Due 1o banks and Anancial institutions . 774,095 - 774,095
Customers” deposits al amortized cost - 25,488,342 - 25,488,342
Deposits from related parties at amortized cost - 373,577 . 72,577
[ebt issued and other borrowed funds - 442,91 - 442,941
Subordinated debt - 409,989 - 409,984
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (eontinued)

2013

Valiation technigues
Coted Ohservable  Unobservable

market price frigenis itiaits
Level ! Level 2 FLevel 3 Tatal
LL milfton LL wrilfion LEL nulion LL mriliton
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
Cash and balances with central banks 260,252 6,975,935 - 7,236,237
Due from banks and financial institutions - 2,518,365 - 2,518365
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse
repurchase agreement - 1,197,149 - 1197149
Financial assels given as collateral - 1,399 - 1,399
Wet loans and advances 1o customars at amortized cost - - T7,397.801 7,397 801
Net loans and advances to related partics at amortized cost - - 35,275 33,275
Financial assets al amortized cost;
Lehanesa treasury hills 2.000,050 3831870 - 5.BA1,920
Cenificates of deposil issued by the Central Bank of
Lebanon - 4,350,572 - 4,350,572
Foreign governmental debt securities 130,537 - - 130,537
Dbt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 25,708 - = 225,708
Comporate bonds 5,849 216 - 6,065
Certificates of deposit issued by hanks and financial
institutions - 33,096 . 33,095
Lighilities for which fair values are disclosed:
[Due to central banks - 117412 - 117,412
Due to banks and Anancial institutions - 744,554 - 744,554
Customers’ deposits al amortized cost - 24,718,163 . 24,718,163
Deposits from related paries at amortized cost - 430,493 - 430,493
[ebt issued and other borrowed funds . 447 460 - 447 460
Subordinated debt . 417,400 - 417,404

50 RISK MANAGEMENT
50.1 INTRODUCTION

Risk is inherent in the Group's activities, vet it is managed through a process of on-going identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls, This process of risk management is
critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk
exposures relating to his or her responsibilities, The Group is exposed to credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk and market risk. 1t is also subject to various operational risks.

The Group's risk management process involves identification, measurement, monitoring and controlling risks to
ensure that:

+ Individuals who take or manage risks clearly understand it
The organization’s risk exposure is within the limits established by the Board of Directors (Board);
Risk taking decisions are in line with the business strategy and objectives sct by the Board of Directors;
The expected payolls compensate for the risks taken;
Risk taking decisions are explicit and clear; and
Sufficient capital is available to act as a bufter for risks taken.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment,
technology and indusiry. The Group's policy is to monitor those business risks through the bank’s sirategic
planning process,
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
s0.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)

Group risk management structure

The Board of Directors is primarily respansible for establishing / approving the Group’s strategic direction and
approving the nature and levels of risk the Group is willing to take. The Board has established three committees
to assist in carmving out its respansibilities;

Risk, Anti-Money Laundering and Compliance Committee (BRC): It is primarily responsible to formulate the
risk appetite statement for the Bank through establishing a comprehensive set of internal risk limits and other
qualitative risk statements that clearly defines the amount of risks the Board is willing to take and those risks the
Board wishes to avoid, and monitors compliance to the risk appelite statement, BRC provides oversight of
Senior Management’s activities in managing capital adequacy, credit, market, liquidity, operational, Anti-Money
Laundering, compliance, reputational and other risks of the Group. The BRC also oversees ICAAP and approves
risk policies,

Audit Committee: monitors the Group's accounting practices and external reporting, and reviews the audit
reporls covering the Group's operations and takes appropriate actions / decisions.

Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee: ensures that the Group has coherent
remuneration policies and practices, and that proper succession plans for board members and senior managers
are in place. It is also responsible 1o make sure that corporate governance principles and the code of conduct are
well established at the Group to warrant the confidence of shareholders, investors and stakeholders.

The above Board Committees are compased of mostly independent / non-executive members satisfying the
applicable best practice requirements. In addition, the Board delegates its day-to-day risk management aclivities
to the Senior Management, through the following diverse committees that have been established:

Executive Committee: acts under the supervision of the Chairman to ensure execution of all strategic directives
stipulated by the Board and to propose new strategic projects and plans to the Board. Membership is assigned to
the Chairman‘General Manager, the Head of the Group Consumer Banking Division, the Head of Group
Financial Markets and Financial Institutions Division, the Head of Group Commercial Banking Division, the
Head of Group Risk Management Division and the Head of Foreign Banking Unit,

Ceniral Credit Committee (CCC): is the highest credit authority in the Group afler the Board, Its mission is to
review and approve high-value amount credit proposals. The internal lending limit is set at 10% of capital, which
requires the joint approval of the Chairman and the CCC. Credit proposals exceeding the internal lending Timit
are referred 1o the Board (or any delegated committee) for approval, The CCC delegates approval authority for
lower amount credit proposals o various sub-committees.

Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO): which mission is to manage the stalement of financial position in
compliance with the main objectives of the Group, in terms of growth, liquidity and interest income. Iis role
encompasses the review, approval and implementation of the Group’s strategics regarding liquidity and interest
rate, FX and trading activities through decisions on size and duration of mismatched positions and on pricing.

Risk Committee: whose task is to formulate and enforee guidelines and standards with regard 1o capital adequacy
and risk measurement and management. It also reviews reports and findings identified by the Group Risk
Management and issues related to the implementation of Basel [I/ Basel 11l projects. The Commitiee discusses
and approves the risk policies, the risk measurement tools such as rating and scoring, and risk-based processes
including stress testing, economic capital, and risk-based profitability. It oversees the risk reports prepared and
ICAAP framework before submission o the Board,

The Group alse established two other committees concerned with the risk management and compliance, being:
The Operational Risk Management Committee and the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Commitiee. The
Operational Risk Commiliee’s mission is to provide oversight for the Group’s operational risk funciion, the
processes and the systems developed to assess, monitor and mitigate operational risks. The mission of the
Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Committee is to ensure that the Group is in compliance with anti-
money laundering laws and internationally administered sanction laws; and to oversee implementation of the
Group’s KYC and sanction policies,
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
s0.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)
Group risk management structure {continued)

Ciranp fteraal Awdit Division

The Group Internal Audit Division (GIA) is responsible for providing an independent, objective assurance and
consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Group's operations. It helps the Group accomplish its
objectives by bringing a systematic disciplined and risk based approach to evaluate and improve the elfectiveness
of risk management, contral, and governanee processes. [ts role within the Group is to ensure that adequate
internal controls are maintained and where weaknesses are identified, they are reported 1o Senior Management
and the Audit Commitiee along with recommendations for improvement, The GLA assesses all new products and
procedures and changes in systems and reports its recommendations accordingly.

The GlA also ensures that the Group is in compliance with the rules and regulations in different jurisdictions
where the Group is operating, the Ceniral Banks and Banking Control Commission requirements, Board of
Directors and management directives and implemented policies and procedures.

Risk Management

The Group's risk management function follows the prudential rules and regulations set forth by the Basel
Committee in the Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision document (September 20121 and Basel
Capital Accord texts (Basel 11/ 111} to measure and assess the risks identified under the pillars | and 11, i.e., the

credit, operational, and market risks, as well as, the interest rate risk in the banking book, the liquidity risk, and
credit concentration.

With regard to Basel recommendations relating to best practices in risk management and its objective of capital
measurement and capital adequacy, the Group adopts a phased approach to take more sophisticated steps
towards credit risk and make use of internal ratings based methodology - or IRB Approach’- to caleulate expected
credit loss and ulimately capital requirements for credit risk. In addition to the market risk capital charge, an
explicit capital charge for aperational risk is being accounted for.

As for addressing the capital management issue in the context of Basel II, the Group develops anmually a
comprehensive Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAPR) document, disclosing the risk appetite
statement and covering all risks to which the Group is or may be exposed, as well as risk factors emanating from
the enviranment in which it operates. Mild and severe stress scenarios and sensitivity analysis are undertaken
within ICAAP to assess the sufficiency of capital and liquidity in sustaining the Group®s operations and business
plans on the medium term.

The overall responsibility for the monitoring and the analytical management of the risk is effectively assigned 1o
the Group Risk Management division (GRM}). The GRM reports to the Chairman and General Manager through
the head of the GRM division, Risk issues and reports are submitted to the Board regularly through the Board
Risk, Anti-Money Laundering & Compliance Committee,

The GRM has a dedicated team, Financial and Operational Risk Management deparimen, that fulfils the
analytical part of risk management and is thereby in direct charge of identifying, measuring, monitoring and
controlling Pillar | and 2 risks faced by the Group. The depariment is split into three main functions:

Risk Policies and Analytics that is responsible for the preparation and reporting of Basel 1l regulatory CAR
report, the development of stress testing scenarios, the write-up of risk reports and ICAAP documents. It handles
as well the measurement of P (probability of default). LGD (loss given default), ECL {expected credit loss) and
UL {unespected loss). The units develop and support risk-based profitability measurements, risk measurement
toals (retail scoring and commercial rating), and risk related policies,

Asset-Liability and Market Risk Management sets the firm-wide framework necessary for identification,
measurement and management of market risk across the Group, including developing policies, procedures, and
risk measurement methodologies. Market Risk is also in charge of monitoring the Group’s limits regarding
liguidity, interest rate risk, foreign exchange and securilies investment positions, siress test and report on
breaches to Senior Management and the Board of Directors,
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1] RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
A0 INTRODUCTION (continued)
Risk Management (continued)

Operational Risk Management is responsible for establishing the necessary framework for identifving, measuring
and managing operational risk across the Group, ORM Unit has established the necessary tools enabling to derive
the risk profile of the Group, starting with spreading the risk eullure through regular training, supporting
operational risk events reporting and loss dmabase, conducting operational risk scenarios with the business
owners 1o focus on the high risk areas and the exposure to capital in a way to supplement the assessment of the
regulatory capital charge, and developing a KRI program 1o establish KRIs that monitor the Group's exposure to
key risks. ORM Unit facilitates the risk and control assessment (RCA) for the main Group processes and new
products/activities,

Risk Management Framework

The Risk Management Framework is based on a set of principles adopted by the Board through the Risk Charter.
These principles are being reviewed annually or upon need in order to be aligned with the changes related to the
internal and external environment of the Group. The set of basic principles that geverns the risk management
framework of the Group are developed based on the following:

Business Line Accountabifity: Business lines are accountable for managing the risks associated with their
activities and establish tolerances for risk taking. The accountability exists notwithstanding the presence of any
support functions dedicated to risk management activities,

Straregic Level Risk Management, encompasses the risk management funetions performed by Senior
Management and the Board. It includes defining the Group’s risk appetite, formulating strategy and policies for
managing risks and establishing adequate systems and controls to ensure that the Group's aggregate risk profile is
within aceeplable tolerance levels.

Analytical Level Risk Management, encompasses the risk management, within the authority delegated by the
Strategic Level o identify, measure, monitor and report the risks taken by the Group in a consistent manncr
across all business lines and operational units.

Tactical Level Risk Maragement, encompasses risk management activities performed by individuals who take
risk on the Group’s behalf such as the front office and loan origination funciions.

The Risk Charter is complemented by risk specific policies and procedures enabling the unification of the risk
culture and practice. Risk management is applied through the implementation of these risk policies / limits
approved by the Board and that are put in place by the risk management function in cooperation with the business
lines, Monitoring of individual risks is handled upon the initiation and renewal of the risk through a clear decision
making process documented in a written procedure,

50.2 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge
their contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it
is willing to accept for individual borrowers and for geographical and indusiry concentrations, and by monitoring
exposures in relation to such limits.

Credil initiation

Target markets and customers and products” strategy are identified in the vearly business plan deriving from the
medium term plan. They are submitted o and discussed with management and the Board by different business
lines. The process of initiating and approving credit proposals is governed by the Group’s Credit Policies and
Procedures Manual (CPPM). CPPM consolidates the principles for the credit origination and follow-up process
based on early warning signals, and includes the credit committee approval authorities, the roles and
responsibilities of credit personnel, the credit administration function, and the structuring of credit packages,

Cannmerciol lending is handled by the Commercial Division which oversees the business origination related to
corparate customers, middle market and international lending. The assessment of a credit request requires an
evaluation of the borrower's creditworthiness through an in-depth analysis of series of financial, management,
business and market criteria translated into an overall eredit risk rating. This assessment process is applicable to
both new and existing client,
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

0.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
Credit initiation (continued)

The Consumer Banking division is responsible to design and implement the strategy and document ihe program
for consumer loans, housing loans, revolving credit cards, small business loans and Kafalat-guaranteed loans,

The Financial Institution department (FI) is a separate business line that sets the strategy for banks limits and
manages the relationship with banks, The function is determined by liquidity targets and by profit generation
through a dynamic yet diversified trade finance business.

Credit approval

The review of eredit proposals is assigned to the credit risk analysis team within the GRM division, acting
independently from the origination units. Every non-retail lending transaction is subject to a thorough risk
assessment by the credit risk analysis team prior to being submitted o the appropriate approving authority,

The credit risk analysis team is organized into five depariments, servicing each a different business segment
(corporate, international, middle market, financial institutions and retail). In the case of retail lending, risk
assessment occurs first at the level of the product design and is followed-on with a post-approval review on a
sampling basis. The primary function of the risk analysis team is 1o ensure that the extension of credit is
consisient with the Group's risk acceptance criteria and CPPM.

Loan follow up and monitoring

Each business line manager who originated the loan remains vested with the responsibility of monitoring the
expasure and reviewing the file on an annual basis or more frequently if needed. Annual reviews consist of a full
update of the credit package and follow the same process as the initiation of the loan.

Outstanding loans are subject as well to a constant monitoring by the GRM division based on a series of reports,
The aim of such monitoring is to ensure problem recognition, and to follow-up on the prompt and remedial
management of spotted deteriorations in borrowers® financial positions, value of collateral and related sector /
industry. Early warning signals are derived from a set of system generated reports.

Impairment assessment
For accounting purpases, the Group uses an incurred loss model for the recognition of losses on impaired
financial assets. This means that losses can only be recognised when objective evidence of a specific loss event
has been observed. Triggering events include the following:

*  Significant financial difficulty of the customer.

* A breach of contract such as a default of payment.

*  Where the Group grants the customer a concession due to the customer experiencing financial difficulty,

It becomes probable that the customer will enter bankruptey or other financial recrganisation,
Observable data that suggests that there is a decrease in the estimated future cash Nows related to the
loans,

The Group has an established policy to measure and allocate provision against the incurred and the expected
eredit loss (ECL} that are inherent to the portfolio. The framework covers the impaired and non-impaired credit
partfolio. A specific provision is allocated against impaired credits based on the net present value of estimated
future cash flows while abiding by a minimum provision rate based on days in arrears to ensure that impaired
loans are sufficiently covered al all time repardless of collateral. A collective provision is allocated against the
nan-impaired loans following the use of credit risk raling and scoring systems along the measurement of credit
components: PD (probability of default), LG (loss given default), and EAD (exposure al default) leading to
measure ECL against the non-impaired loans. The Group has put in place an action plan to enhance its eredit
analytics” sclup to meet the new IFRS 9 impairment standard. Concurremily to its internal eredit risk
measurement and provision allocation framework, the Group is in full compliance with BDL circular 81 and
BCCL circular 280 regarding the allocation of specitic and collective provisions and general reserves against
loans.
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S0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREDIT RISK {continued)

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees are assessed and provisions are made in a similar manner as
tor loans,

Devivative financial insiruments
Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any time, limited 1o those with positive fair values,
as recorded on the statement of financial position.

With gross—settled derivatives, the Group is also exposed to a scttlement risk, being the risk that the Group
honars its obligation but the counterparty fails w deliver the counter-value,

Credit-refated commitments and financial guarantee risks

The Group makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the Group makes pavments on
their behalf and enters into commitments to extend credit lines to secure their liguidity needs. Such commitments
expose the Group to similar risks 1o loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREIT RISK {(continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the borrower. Guidelines
are implemented regarding the acceplability of tvpes of collateral and valuation parameters. Management requests
additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral
oblained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses. The main types of collateral
abtained are as follows:

Securities:
The balances shown above represent the fair value of the securities.

Lefters af credit / guaraniees.

The Group holds in some cases guarantees, letters of eredit and similar instruments from banks and financial
institutions which enable it to claim settlement in the event of default on the part of the counterparty. The balances
shown represent the notional amount of these types of guarantees held by the Group.

Real estate feommercial and restdentiol):
The Group holds in some cases a first degree mortgage over residential property (for housing leans) and commercial

property (for commercial loans). The value shown above reflects the [air value of the property limited to the related
martgaged amount.

Other:
In addition to ihe above, the Group alse obtains from its cliems proxy to morigage a residential or commercial
properly, guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiarics, personal guarantees for loans o

companies owned by individuals and assignments of proceeds and revenues, which are not reflected in the above
table.

Credit quality per class of financial assets
The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the
Group's internal credit rating system. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances,

2ada
Neither past due nor impaired
High Stawdard Fast due bt Inidividially
grade grade il impaired impaired Total
LEL miltion LL million LL miifton LL millian LL miltion
Balances with central barks 5,372,200 161,987 . 31,041 8,565,228
Dz from banks and financial institutions 1,195,741 461,688 - 4,024 2 661,453
Loans 1o banks and finarcial mstitutions and reverse
repurchase agreements T 221 164 845 - £ 964,066
Financial assets given as collateral 124,044 - - - 224,044
Denvative financial instruments 4,420 - - = 4,420
Frnanciol assets @t fair value through profit or fass:
Lebanese treasury bills 318022 - - = 318,021
Certificares of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 428,572 . . 4 428,572
Dbt securities issued by banks and financial instiutions 1513 - - - 1,513
Net foans and advances to customers af amartized cosy!
Commercial loans 4,831,212 119,872 67,572 11537 5,183,773
Contumsr loans 2,460,500 18,8158 199,903 145,169 1824387
Met loans and advances 10 related pantees a1 amortized cost 0,714 - - - 0,714
[ebtors by scceplances 193,801 30,052 - - 113883
Financtal astets aramonized cos!
Lebanese treasury bills 4, TAT, 454 - - - 4,757 484
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 4,482,042 - - - 4,482,042
Feeign govermmental debd secunties 65,684 72,4219 - - 138,113
b secunties isued by banks ard firancial metitutions 5477 - - - 5477
Corporatz bonds 635 - - . G5
Cerificates of deposit isswed by banks and  financial
institutions 3033 30,195 . . 3118
19,168,315 1,069,913 167,178 405,551 EBDE.EIH

86



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
11 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Credit guality per class of financial assets (continued)

203
_ Meither past due mor impained
High Standoed Pasidue bt Dedividually
grole gl el amperired impaived Tonal
Li miilion LiL milfion LI miifian Li milfien LI milfion
Balances with central banks 6,769 421 20 B2E - 31,381 70011430
e from banks and fnancial insutuions 1,751,637 766,728 - 1688 2522053
Lioans 10 banks and financial institations and reverss
repurchase agresments QU2 BES 204,081 - - 1,197,047
Financial aszets given as collateral 1,405 - - - 1,405
Drerivative financial instruments 1,844 - - . 1,844
Fimancio! assets el fiie value theough profit or foss:
Lehanese treasury bills 227,004 - . . 227,004
Cemtificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Letanon 774 - . . 27,714
[rebt securities s by banks and financial instihutions 2440 - - = 2440
Corpoeate bonds . ime . - ims
Ner foans and advances fe customers of amsmzed coil
Commercial boans 4,671,211 HE 095 84,955 233616 5,197 877
Consumer loans 2165098 13,647 176,128 132,748 2,507 64
et loans and advandes 1o related paries at amortized cost 35273 - - = 35,275
Debitors by goceplances 2344953 9,752 - - 244,705
Fogancial asseis of amorized cos
Leharese trgasury bills 585240 - - - 3852407
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 4,274,429 . . . 4274410
Foreign governmental debt secunties 31,712 93,560 . . 125,272
Dbt secunities issued by banks and financial instineions 174,448 50,767 - - 225215
Cogporate bonds 5033 a7 . . 6,004
Certificates of deposit jssuad by banks and financial
institutions - 33187 - - 313,187
27,319,497 1,603,734 261,083 401633 29385947
Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans per class of financial assets:
2814
Less than 20 Gt 180 Muore than
dfuys days 181 days Total

LL million LL mififon LL milifon LEL milfion
Loans and advances o customers at amonized cost:

- Commercial loans 17474 22 AR 17412 67,372
- Comsumer loans 194,922 1,897 3084 199,903
212,396 24,383 20,496 267,275
213
Lesy than 90 @l ta 130 Mare than

days s T31 days Tatal
LL millian L miflion LL miftion LI milfian

Loanz and advances (o customers ol amortized cost:
= Commercial loans 28,143 36,229 20,583 84,955
= Consumer loans 171,735 1,879 2514 176,128
199 878 38,108 23,007 261,083
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S0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

0.2  CREDIT RISK (continued)

Mapping to external eredit rating

Loans and advances fo custoners

Finenctal assets
External credit Supervisory
rafing rating
High grade Lebanese Soversign Regular
AMAA D A-
Fellow up
Standard grade BBBE+ and below Follow up and
unraled regularizalien
Tdivedually impaired Impaired Substandard
Debaful
Bad

Characteristics
Rezular and umely payment of dues. Adequacy of cash
flows. Timely financial statements. Suflicient cellateral /
guarantes (iF required)
Lack of decumentation related to bormower’s activity

Credit worthy borrower showing weaknesses; insulficient /
inadaquate cash Mows, highly leveraged, deterioration in
coonamic sector of country where the facility is used,
conflict between partners of other lawsaits; loan
rescheduling since initiation; excess utilization above limit

Signals of incapacity to repay from identified cash flows;
full repayments supposes the hguidation of assets |/
celiateral; recurrent late paymenis; late interests; losses
incurred for over 3 vears

Full repavment is questierad even after asset hquidation,
account stagnation and inability to repay restructured loans,

Mo or little expected inflows from business or assets,
borrower is unreachable, insolvency status,

The classification of loans and advances to customers and related parties at amortised cost in accordance with the
ratings of Central Bank of Lebanon Circular 58 are as follows:

2016
(rriss Unreafised Tmpairment MNer
bulance interest alfewances bafurce
LL miflion LL million LL mithion LL miiifen
Reauolar 6,970,852 - - 6,970,892
Follow up 539426 = - 539,426
Follow up and regularization 197,356 - - 197,356
Substandard 69,985 {5,757) - 64,228
Doubiful 199,812 (24.501) (50,995) 94,016
Bad 100,689 (23,406) (77,283) -
C 078,160 (53.964) (158,278) 7865918
Collective impairmient 178,643) - = (7T8.643)
7.999,517 (33.964) {158,278) C 787275

2003
Ciross Unirealised Tmpeirmant Ner
balance inlerest allowances balance
LL million L miffion LL million LL miflion
Regular 6,589,000 - 6,589,110
Follow up 534,207 - - 534207
Follow up and regulanzation 305,928 - . 05,928
Substandard 6,380 (&40} - 5,540
Doubtful 181,388 {13,226) (T1,748) 06,414
Bad 178,595 (&6, 605) (111,990) -
7,795,498 (80,671 (183,718) 7531080
Collective impainment (131 448) - - {131 448)
7,664,050 (20671 1,390 641

[183,738)
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31 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Renegotiated loans

Restructuring activity aims to manage customer relationships, maximize collection opportunities and, if possible,
avoid foreclosure or repossession. Such activities include extended payment arrangements, deferring foreclosure,
modification, loan rewrites and'or deferral of payments pending a change in circumsiances,

Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of local management,
indicate that repayment will probably continue. The application of these policies varies according w the nature of the
markel and the tvpe of the facility.

2016 2013
LL milfion LE million
Commercial loans M517 78,445

Analysis of risk concentration
The Group's concentrations of risk ar¢ managed by client/counterparty, by geographical region and by industry
sector. The maximum credit exposure to any client or counterparty as of 31 December 2016 was LL 121,630 million

(2015: LL 128,850 million) belore taking account of collateral or other eredit enhancements and nil (200132 nil) net
af such protection.

The following tables show the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial
position, including derivatives, by geography of counterparty before the effect of mitigation through the use of
netting and collateral agreements.

Greagraphic analysis

2016
Lebanon Eurape Cilrers Total
LL mfffion  LL millfen  LL milfion  LL millien
Balances with central hanks 8,304,723 70,120 158,814 8,533,067
Due from banks and financial instiutions 63,684 913,078 1,680,667 1657429
Loans to banks and financial instilutions and reverse repurchase
apreameants 780,495 48,103 135,468 964,066
Financial assets given as collateral 214,044 - - 224,044
Denvative financial instruments 1,935 920 1,565 4,420
Flwneial assess af fair value through prafit or loss:
Lehanese treasury bills 38,022 - - 18,022
Certificates of deposit issuad by the Central Bank of Lebanon 428,572 - - 418,572
[t securities 1ssued by banks and financial institnions e 187 1,726 2,513
Net foans ond advances fo customers ab antartized cost
Commercial loans 4,339,119 184,356 550852 5074327
Consumer loans 2,576,999 42,708 93,241 2,712,948
et loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost 19,554 877 583 20,714
Debtors by acceplances 193,664 2,312 17,507 113,883
Financial asseis ar amartized cost;
Lebangze treasury bills 4,757,484 - = 4,757,454
Centificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 4,482,042 - - 4,482,042
Foreipn governmental debt securities - 138,113 - 138,113
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions - 5477 - 5477
Corporate bonds - 635 - 635
Certificates of deposit issued by banks and financial institutions 13,228 - - 33,128

26,523,565 1,407,186 2,650,833 30,581,584
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
Analysis of risk concentration (continued)

Geographic analysis (conlinmed)

2015
Lebanon Enrape Chifers Total
LL wifllen LD miffion  LL million LE miliion
Balances with central banks 6722113 50,150 203,722 6,975 985
Due from banks and financial instiutions 112,437 1,083,743 1,322 185 2,518,363
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase
Agrecments 942 410 15,001 218616 1,197,047
Financial assets given as collateral 1.405 . - 1,405
Derivative financial instruments 1.140 342 ind 1,844
Financial aiseis of foir valve through prafit or logs;
Lebanese treasury hills 227,004 - . 227,004
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 27,714 - - 27,714
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions - 757 1,683 2,440
Corporate bonds - - 3018 1018
Net loans and advances to customers at amortized cosi
Commercial loans 4,020,708 134,142 145,869 4,900,719
Consumer loans 2,361,369 42,842 94,711 2498 922
Met loans and advances 1o related parties at amortized cost 13,981 291 1,043 35,275
Debtors by acceplances 203,734 9.944 ilo27 30,7058
Flingneial asiets aft amartized casi;
Lebanese treasury bills 5852407 - - 5,852,407
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 4,274,429 - - 4274429
Foreign governmental debt securities - 92551 12,691 125,272
Dbt securities issued by banks and financial institutions = 73,006 152,119 215,215
Corporate honds - 907 5,097 6,004
Certificates of deposit issued by banks and financial institutions 33,187 . - 33,187

24814058 1,523,796 2813103 29,150,957

503 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, though solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available
te enable it to meet its obligations when they fall due, or can secure them only at an excessive cost. The Group's
policy with regards to the liquidity risk management is centered on a conservative approach, whereby the liquidity is
managed strongly in normal times and adequate liguidity buffers are maintained, in a way that enables the Group to
withstand a prolonged peried of liquidity stress.

Met immediate cash and near eash in foreign currencies are held at sight in prime international banks to keep the Net
Immediate Liquidity above the defined tolerance level by the Board of Directors, at all times.

In September 2013, the Group has updated its Liquidity Risk Policy to include Liquidity Standards such as the
Liguidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), based on Basel 111 and own conservative
assumptions. The LCR is kept well above the established internal minimum, ensuring that the Group maintains High
Quaality Liguid Assets (HQLAs), both in local and foreign currencies, which allow the Group to cover more than
1008 of a potentially stressed net outflow in a lguidity crisis based on severe internal estimates and haircuts, The
NSFR is designed to ensure that long term assets are funded with at least a minimum amount of stable resources in
relation to their liquidity characteristics.

Moreover, the policy defined a set of Early Warning Indicators (EWI1s) along with other liquidity ratios and
monitoring tools that are continuously screened by Senior Management and the Board of Directors,
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

50.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group stresses the importance of customer deposits as source of funds to finance its lending aclivities. This
is monitored by using the loans to depaosits ratio, which compare loans and advances to customers as a percentage

of depasits from customers,

Loans to deposits

Year-end
Maximum
Minimum
Average

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2016
and 2013 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject 1o notice are
treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Group expects that many customers will not request
repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay. The table does not reflect the expected cash flows
that are in line with the Group's deposit retention history,

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central banks

Due from banks and financizl insniutions

Lewans 10 banks and financial institetions ard reverse
repurchase agresmants

Firancial assets given & collateral

Drenvative financial instruments

Financial assets a1 fair value through profit or loss

MNet Joans and advances 10 customers at amorized cost

Met boans and advances to related parties al amortized cos1

[rebiors by acceplances

Finarcial assets a1 amortized cost

Firancial assets al fair value through other comprehensive
income

Total undiscounted financial assets

Finamcial Babilities

Due 1o central banks

[ue 10 banks and firancial institutions
Derivative financial instruments

Custormers’ deposiis a1 amortized cost
Deposits from refated parties a1 amortized cost
Dbt dssued and other borrowed funds
Engagements by acceptances

Subordinated debt

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

Net undiscounted financial assels /| liabilitics)

2016

30.29%
30.29%
29.19%
29.69%

2013

29.64%
29.92%
29.26%
29.52%

2018

Lpto ol F monrhs o s her
I meansh mpnthi fa I year years S years Toral
LL mitlion LL mitflan LE million  LL miltion  LL mitlion  LEL million
1,551,462 544930 LITRERI 3701866 4954806 11,927,947
2,048,400 521,382 80,257 0,596 23 2,659,838
796,338 54,350 97,578 17,995 < 9E6261
; - 17,392 64,161 236652 318205
1,859 369 1,192 . 2 4,410
T4A4T 178,433 215,023 306,310 54253 B18.466
3,213,783 456,043 LISEXY 2154,188 1,744,180 & 735318
11,534 527 913 1,530 7,368 21,952
60,943 B7.316 £3,108 12,516 - 223883
123,661 SEO6E 1,162,458 5,197,240 5,196,700 12,240,155
5 Z - 10,305 100,305
TIBIIALT 1ADEI6 3,966,668 11468401 12205467 IR017.780
4173 2,517 17343 10460 245631 380414
341,787 T6,08T 181,465 139,956 72,975 B12,070
1,604 e 431 ; - 1,106
13976808 3232420 5188030 3251302 454,281 14,100,854
138,518 £347 216,932 32,589 8416 403,102
. : 3658 554287 - a59|s
60,941 87,316 63,108 12,516 - 113383
. 7,257 11,371 HISH0Y 447,308 590,939
14,514,129 3412321 5720338 4206093 1,218.411 19,101.293
(6630700 (1,005506) (1, 756T0) 7,252,300 11,067,056 8926487

a1
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S0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

50.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

Analysis of financiaf assets and liabilivies by remaining contractial maturities {continued)

Finangial assets

Cash and balances with central banks

D from banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial mstiutions and reverse
repurchase agreements

Finangial assets given as collateral

Denvative financial instruments

Financial assets at fair value thoough peofit or loss

het loans and advances o ¢ustomers at amortized cost

Netloans and advances o related partizs at amortized cost

Deblors by acceplances

Financial assets at amorized cost

Financial assete at fair value through other comprebensive
ncome

Total undizceunted financial assets

Finangial hakalities

[z 10 central banks

Dz fo banks and financial instiunons
[erivative financial instruments

Customers’ deposits 2t amorticed cost
Dreposits from related parties a1 amonized cost
Dbt issued and ether borrowed furds
Engagements by acceptances

Subordinated debt

Total undizcounted financial liabilities

Met undiscounted firancial assets | liabhilities)

2003

U re Twi 3 manihe T 3 (her
1 manth mranis to ! year ears $ yeors Total
L sl I maliion LLmitlion LD edtlian L6 milian L owillion
1817126 305,626 LOL8598 2638117 334441 0,143 878
2,212 285 198, 7R3 G400 8247 L] 2.518918
SEGDED 94,147 531,673 11,240 1,206,140
2 - 13 1,387 1AL
771 Qa7 136 - ¢ 1544
10zl 1054 13,125 126,457 ALY Ad6 469
3,193 437 496,741 1213752 187113 1369938 81359011
19,682 1403 6,370 16TE TAIR 36,551
04,542 407 75946 . . 244,705
178,996 217,533 1443336 6,561,231 5267321 13668417
101,507 101,807
8088 240 1,392 411 A 414,354 11,1947 10414031 3_-5_529.1.1.5
12,31 1,422 10212 59,748 AR 307 122,040
357,836 67,738 103,357 162 A8 06,112 TRT 897
1,220 1,143 852 - - 2d4s
14,040,254 3,073,092 4831 804 3,023,720 X080 25262 660
28R 210 19,208 100,932 42,224 5152 455,726
. . 31,658 126,630 460,412 G1E, 700
04,542 74,217 73,946 . = 244,705
E 7421 21,453 114,921 498,395 642190
147934473 3246261 5175144 3520787 1390698 IR 136,363
(TE0, TR0 T6R9ESD RD23333 0 7,362 882

(8,705,533)  {1B53820)

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group's contingent liabilities and commitments,
Each undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest date it can be drawn down,

2016
Less than 1 T3 Ftoi2 fo§ Mare than
mioth migaihs fronihs FEars Syeurs Total
LE million  LE miltfion LL mitlion LI miltion LL mitifon LL miiffion
Financial guarantees - 68 114,711 103,093 62 217,934
Documentary credits 20,212 166,831 145,585 13,054 - 345,652
Coammitments to lend 2,979,622 - - - 2,979,621
2999834 166899 260,296 116,147 62 3,543,238
2015 - i
Less than 1 Tl drl2 Tt s Mare than
meonth monsh miantis yéars 3 yeurs Toral
L million  LL millian LEL million LL million LI millian LL miffion
Financial guarantess x4 109,205 95874 LiE] 205 966
Documentary credits 11,827 190,458 163 336 23,034 - 388 655
Commitments to lend 2,355 807 - - - 2,355,807
2368458 190,458 272,541 118908 63 3950428

The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilitics or commitments will be demanded before maturity,
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.4 MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as the potential loss in both on balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions resulting from
movements in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

The market risk governance has been defined in the Security Investmem Policy, which defines the roles and
responsibilities of the key stakcholders of market risk management, including the Board, the ALCO committee,
the business lines and risk functions,

It is the responsibility of the ALCO to manage the Group’s invesiment portfolio under the terms of the Security
Invesiment Policy. While siriving to maximize porifolio performance, the ALCO shall keep the management of
the portfolie within the bounds of good banking practices, satisfy the Group's liquidity needs, and ensure
compliance with both regulatory and internally set limits and requirements.

The Group Risk Management division sets the framework necessary for idemification, measurement and
management of market risk,

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will alTect the fair values of the financial
instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate re-pricing of assets
and liahilities. The Group manages the risk by matching the re-pricing of assels and liabilities through risk
management strategies, Positions are monitored on a daily basis by management and, whenever possible, hedging
strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Group measures interest rate
risk through applying varying scenarios of increase and decrease of market interest rates and assessing their impact
an net interest income (Eamnings’ perspective) and capital (Economic Value perspective). In 2015, the Bank has
revised the interest rate risk policy to set new internal gap limits for local currency and foreign curréncies. The
Group has prudentially set an internal Pillar 2 capital charge against interest rate risk,

Tnterest rate sensitivity
The following table shows the sensilivily to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s income statement,

The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the profit or loss
for a year, based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities and to the reinvestment or refunding
of fixed rated linancial assets and liabilities at the assumed rates. The change in interest income is caleulated over
a l-year period. The impact also incorporates the fact that some monctary items do not immediately respond 1o
changes in interest rates and are not passed through in full, reflecting sticky interest rate behaviour. The pass-
through rate and lag in response time are estimated based on historical statistical analysis and are reflected in the
oulcome,

2016 2005
Increase Effect on net Effect an net
Currency in basis poinfs inferest income inferest income
LL million L milfion
LBP 30 basis paint {20,705) (22.791)
US Dollar 50 basis paint 1,165 1.326
Eura 50 basis paint (1,170) (516)
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

s0.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Interest rate risk {continued)

faterest pate sensitivity fcontimmed)

The Group's interest sensitivity position based on the contraciual re-pricing date at 31 December was as follows:

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks

Dz feem banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial institutions and
reverse repurchase agreements

Financial assets given as collateral

Derivative financial instrurments

Financial assats at fair value through profit or loss

Net loans and advances to customers at amorlized
ciost

Net leans and advances to related parties at
amortized cost

[ebdors by acceplances

Financial ass2ts at amortized cost

Financial ass2is at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Total

LIABILITIES

[Due to central banks

Dug ta banks and financial instiutions
Denvative financial instruments

Customers” deposits at amontized cost
Deposits from related parties al amortized cost
Debt issued and other bomrowed funds
Engagements by acceplances

Subordinated deba

Toral

Tosal interest sensitivity gap

2016

Nan

interest

Lptal Tiod I months Tio 3 fher bearing
manih months fo I year years S years items Total
L miMon  ELmillllon  LL mitlfon  LLmiltion  LE millfon  LL mitNen  LE million
538,665 R1T.625 §19.115 2304412 3546722 1036543 RTRI,002
1,258,325 519,850 79,746 9,915 03 TED A% 2,657,429
795,622 54137 93,962 17,6496 - 549 964,066
- - - 1,387 221,000 1,657 124,044
Z s . L 4,420 4,420
- - s - TED,172 789,172
3212058 694,235 2,277,152 1,174,183 246,275 183,372 7,787,275
11,807 1,277 2,378 361 4,891 20,74
- - - - - 113 8K3 223,883
79,751 412,023 4,296 AEINIS 4509103 135,524 416,979
5 g = - 101,305 101,305
5896258 2209247 4015659 T,M7,106 5528294  3,265815 30,971,379
(4] 2816 11,626 56,148 226,633 4,067 332,97
158,830 73379 132,771 119,584 66,472 123,059 774,095
- - - . . 1,106 106
11,262,765 3136856 4808957 3,158,236 376972 216TLRIR 25415604
104,927 8,582 217435 13,712 1,018 0,353 366,027
- - . 443,456 - Gl6 444,072
A - H - 113,883 213,853
- - - 420,001 164 420,165
11,627.208 3221633  SITILEI9 3820136 109109 3046066 127,075,953
(5,730,945)  (1,002,386) (1,146,160) ; J,IIZS,Q?EI TAIT 198 219,749 1,993,426
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Interest rate risk {continued)

frlevest rate sensitivity fcontimed)

201 ¥
Nen
interest
Lpro ] I d 3 moanthi Ttod (her bearing
manth misnths to | year Ve S years ftems Total
LL milllon LLmilhion DL mitlion DL miltien  LLmillon  LLmilWion L million
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 593,919 278,858 739,431 1,732,125 2607941 1263913 7236237
Due from banks and financial institutions 1,426,515 198,624 9§, 799 8,247 203 TRS Q77 2518365
Loans to banks and financial institutions and
reverse repurchase agreements 564,883 3613 523,433 10,221 - 4877 1,197,047
Financial assets given as collateral . 1,387 - 18 1,405
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 1.344 1,844
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - . - . - 2195 845 105 845
Net loans and advances to customers al amortized
cost 3,209,765 714202 2730013 1,000,021 193,876 0,763 7,399,641
Wet [oans and advances to related parties at
amorized cost 19,660 1,346 6,088 1,272 801 108 35275
[eblors by acceptances . . . . . 244 705 244,705
Financial asseis at amonized cost 134,454 134,765 996,731 4740067 4352 685 IST770 10516514
Financial ass2ts at far valee through ather
comprehensive income . - . . - 101,907 101,507
Total 5,940 257 1421438 4615504 7482953 7161506 2907727 29 548785
LEABILITIES
Due 1o central banks 481 1422 3115 57,048 374456 11,900 117412
Due o banks and financial institutions 221,929 66, 264 111,731 138,667 £8.243 117,720 744.554
Dervative financial instruments - . - - - 2445 2,445
Customers” deposits at amortized cost 11,167 392 2997 348 4,651,259 2696558 248,893 2892948 24654308
Deposits from related partics at amarized cost 237194 17,623 93,713 15,548 850 30,769 425 749
Dbt issued and other borrowed funds - - - - 444,583 616 445,199
Engagements by acceptances . - . . . 244705 244,705
Subondinated debt - - - - 417,237 163 417,400
Total 11645596 JO0B263T 4865830 2917821 1,237,292 33001266 270518562
Total interest sensivily gap (5,697,739)  (1,651,219) (249.924) 4575132 3924214 (303 519) 2,496,923

Currency risk

Foreign exchange (or currency) risk is the risk that the value of a portfolio will fall as a resull of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The major sources of this type of market risk are imperfect correlations in the movements
of currency prices and fluctuations in interest rates. Therefore, exchange rates and relevant interest rates are
acknowledged as distinet risk factors.

In addition to regulatory limits, the Board has set limits on positions by currency. These positions are monitored
conslantly to ensure they are maintained within established limits.
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
S0.4 MARKET RISK {(continued}

Currency risk (continued)

Following is the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2016 detailed in Lebanese Lira

(L.L) and foreign currencies, translated into LL,

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks

e from banks and financial institutions

Lexans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agraements
Financial assets given as collateral

Drerivative financial instruments

Financial ass21s at fair value through profitor loss

et loans and advances to customers at amorlized cost

Met toans and advances o related parties at amonized cost
[Debtors by acceplances

Financial asse1s at amonized cost

Financial assets al fanr vales through olher comprehensive income
Property and equipment

Inangible assets

Assets obtained in settlement of debt

Orher assetls

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

e to central banks

[Drue to banks and linancial institutions
Derivative financial instruments
Customars” deposits al amortized cost
Deposits from refated partics at amorized cost
Dbl dssvad and other borrowed funds
Engagement by acceplances

Other liabilities

Provistons for nisks and charges
Subordinated debt

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital — commaon shares

Share capital - preferred shares

Share premiem - common shares

Share premivm = preferred shares

Mon distnbutable reserves

Distributable resenves

Treasury shares

Retainad eamings

Revaluation resenve of real estate

Change in fair value of financial ass21s at faic value through other comprehensive
INcome

Net resulis of the financial peried - profit

Foreign currency ranslation resemves

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

96

216
Forelgn

clirrenctes In Tom!
L miflion LEL milfion LE million
2,621,557 6,161,555 8,783,002
35107 1,623,582 2,657,429
301,530 662,536 964,066
224,044 - 224,044
3,943 477 4,420
722,561 66,610 789,172
071,93 5,715,362 7,787,275
2,159 18,525 10,714
- 113,883 213883
5,183,758 423321 9,416,979
31,470 69,835 101,305
112156 24,930 247,095
380 . 340
(8,393) 51,692 43,299
80,904 19,532 110,438
11,491,842 19,952,049 31,373,591
330,552 2419 332971
19,369 744,726 774,095
1,561 545 L1
9,491,350 15,923,754 1541560
72,248 193779 366,027
5 444,072 444,072
¥ 213,583 113,883
168,525 131,288 390813
162,139 13,251 275,390
- 410,165 420,165
10,456,274 18,197,852 18,654,156
684,273 - 684,273
4,840 - 4,840
- 219,014 219,014
E 591,083 591,083
451,800 391,520 543,320
84,175 19,071 103,246
- {5,161) (5,161}
68,067 (548 67,518
5,680 - 5689
21,027 (30, 10} (9,081)
42,408 190,264 231672
{65,341) - (65,341)
29,497 7,566 17,363
1,326,435 1,393,000 19,435
11,782,700 19,590,452 31,373,591
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.4  MARKET RISK {continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Following is the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2015 detailed in Lebanese Lira

{LL) and foreign currencies, translated into LL.

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks

Dz frem banks and Gnarcial institations

Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreemeanis
Firancial assets given as collateral

Derivative financial instruments

Firancial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Net leans and advances o customers at amartized cost

Met loans end advances to related partics &t amorized cost
Debiors by acceplances

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Progey and equipment

Intangible assets

Assets oblainad in senlement of debt

(ther assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILTTIES AND EQUITY

Due to central banks

Due to banks and finzncial institutions
Denvative financial instruments
Customers” deposits at amonized cost
Deposits frem related panies a1 amortized cost
Debt issued and other bamowed funds
Engageman by acceplances

Other liabilinies

Provisions for risks and charges
Subordinated deia

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital = common shares

Share capital — preferred shares

Share premium = common shares

Share premium — preferred shares

MNon distnbutable reserves

DHstributable reserves

Treasury shares

Retained earmings

Revaluation reserve of real estate

Change in fuir value of financial assets a1 fair value through other comprehensive

ncome

MWet resulis of the financial period - profit
Foreign currency translation reserves
NON-CONTROLLING [INTERESTS
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

215

Fareign
CUFFERCIES N Total
LL millian LL millian LL millian
1,606,601 5,629 636 7,236,237
39,443 2,478 922 2,518,365
2,333 1,194,714 1,197, 047
1.408 . 1,405
1,520 124 1,844
33062 257783 205 845
1,815,180 5,584 461 7,309,641
2,220 33055 35275
T 244,605 244,705
7317616 3,198 398 10,516,514
LT 73,016 101,907
207,071 48054 155125
493 - 493
(%248 51,254 42,004
(9,713 38,288 108,001
11,121,400 18,833,010 29,953 410
106,130 11,282 117,412
18 460 726,004 744,554
1,897 548 2445
9616252 15,038 146 24654 398
101,929 323 820 415749
. 445199 445,199
104 244,605 244,705
§7.711 50,856 147,567
144,945 26,593 171,538
- 417,400 417400
10,077,424 17,293,543 27370967
684,273 584,273
4,840 - 4,840
. 229.014 15014
. 501,083 591,083
606,908 208,976 B3 854
78,547 20,664 93,211
. (6,807} (6,807}
48 300 13,242 il 832
5,689 - 5689
18,863 (26,824 (7961
210,125 18,060 28,185
{193,842 (153,842
25,497 46, 545 72,042
1,489,450 1,093,553 2,583,433
11,566,914 18,387,496 29954410
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
S04 MARKET RISK (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

Ciroup s sensitivity 1o currency exchange rates

The table below shows the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December on its
maonetary assels and liabilities and its forecasted cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonahly
possible movement of the currency rate against the Lebanese Lira, with all other variables held constant, on the
income statement (due 1o the potential change in fair value of currency sensitive monetary assets and liabilities)
and equity (due 1o the impact of currency translation gainslosses of consolidated subsidiaries). A negative
amount reflects a potential net reduction in income while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase.

2016 2013
Change tn  Effect an profit Effect on Effect an profit Effect on
Crrrency CREFEREY Fitfe before fox ity hefore tax equity
% LL miftion LL mitlion LL million LL million
US Dollar +1 191 - 671 -
Euro al (2) 1,261 i7 1.285

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the level of equity
indices and individual stocks. Equity price risk exposure arises from equity securities classified at fair value
through protit or loss and at fair value through other comprehensive income, A 5 per cent increase in the value of
the Group's equities at 31 December 2016 would have increased other comprehensive income by LL 2,219
million and net income by LL 2,003 million {2015: LL 2,412 million and LL 1,783 million respectively). An
equivalent decrease would have resulted in an equivalent but opposite impact.

Prepayment risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties
repay or request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when interest rates fall,

Market risks that lead to prepayments are not material with respect 1o the markets where the Group operates,
Accordingly, the Group considers prepayment risk on net profits as not material after considering any penaltics
arising from prepayments,

50.5 OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems, or from
external events (including legal risks). When conirals fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to
reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial losses.

To reduce operational risk, the Group has developed an Operational Risk Management [ramework with the
objective of ensuring that operational risks within the component of the framework is a set of core operational risk
risk policies designed to ensure thal operational risk has proper governance, and that it is maintained at an
acceplable level with a controlled and sound operating environment. The operational risk publications and
guidelines were placed on the Bank's intranet site for quick access and referrals. The critical operational risk
issues were handled by a separate Operational Risk Committee which meetings are attended by business lines
Senior Managers including the Chief Risk Officer and the General Manager.
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
505  OPERATIONAL RISK (continued)

The framework for managing and controlling operational risks encompass various wols including Risk and
Control Assessment (RCA), operational risk eveni reporting and loss database management and key risk
indicators (KRIs), The RCA is performed by each business and support unit to identify key operational risks and
assess the degree of effectiveness of internal controls. Inadequate controls are subject to action plans that will help
track and timely resolve deficiencies. This tool is subject to a proactive approach to minimize operational risk
loss, This is reflected in the operational risk assessment of new products/aclivitics/systems, prolective information
securily and Business Continuity Planning, granular risk analysis for its operating/existing activities, and
cOMINUOUS AWareness sessions.

Operational risk events are classified in accordance with Basel standards and include significant incidents that
may impacl the Group's profits and reputations for further mitigation and avoidance. As to key risk indicators,
they are being established o facilitate the operational risk monitoring in a forward looking manner with pre-
defined escalation triggers. The Group gives particular attention to preventive measures when it comes to
operational risk management and has established continuing training and awareness programs to fulfill them.

The Group's operational risk mitigation program involves both business continuity management and insurance
managenent program, whereby the former is set 1o oversee the business continuity of essential business service
during unforeseen events mainly business disruption and system failures events - with enterprise wide impact -
along with natural disasters and terrorism/ vandalism events, As to the latter the Group purchases group wide
insurance policies to mitigate significant losses. These policies cover fraud, property damage and general liability,
and Director’s and officers” liability.

51 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be
recovered or settled.

1014
Less than 1} moaths (hier I3 months —
Lp io Tted X months Iy her

S =i ia L1 mdion) 7 month months te I year Fotal prari 5 pars Tatal Fotal
ASSETS
Cash ard balances with central banks 1,547,956 £19 103 176,251 pR AR ALY 35061 ES819273 8,753,081
Drae froen bBarks and fnangial nstibations 2047873 E10, 454 9,19 2,547 880 9858 ans 9,799 1ESV ALY
Lowng to banks and financial institasions and reverse

reprarchiase agresments ThE,1582 £4194 5,024 SE6450 17,658 . 17,604 TE4 B85
Finanigial assets given as collazeral = a 1,652 1,653 1,187 23,005 112392 214044
Denivaive finangial irstrumenis 1859 kL 1082 4410 - - - A AT
Fenwncial assets wi fuir value through proficor loss T3 403 165,524 197,509 436,516 154,952 B304 BELE4E TERITY
Mg loans and advances bo customens @ amortized cost 200,509 410,629 BIRI4E 4A0E50) 1714221 1467650 BIALESY  7TETRTA
Nt lowns and pdvances 1o relaed panies at imonieed cost 11,530 601 Bl 13,943 1084 6,717 Al | 10,714
Dbrors by aoceprances &0543 1 A1& 63,108 MR 11516 - 1516 113843
Fingncial assens at amonized dos1 Q8158 458,038 135313 1,258,616 3603201 4515161 R12E36Y  S4184579
Fanandial assets ot Tair valug thrcugh ether comprehensasg

AREOTH - - - - - 101, 30 101,305 100 305
Propery and equipmens - - - - - 247455 TEEE 4T HS
lezangible asseis - - - - - 330 kLG LET]
Assery obtained in senleendnt of e - - - - - 43,159 43,159 43,249
Oehar mssets £33 . Bl.0a1 82377 = 21,ma1 1041 110,438
TOTAL ASSETS TASAAM 2237440 3R ERT 13 MOTAI TO63086 1020274 1816577 3137359
LIAHILITIES
Drue to gertra] banks 1836 .81 1320t 182549 BT 468 116,633 34,10t 333871
D b ban'es end fimascial instiunicons 330376 73778 174, B55 258,039 119,554 &6,471 LE6056  TT4.058
D ative firascial irstrusmnis 1606 & 431 L1 . . - 2004
Customaery” deposing 81 amofmieed cost 13746913 3070658 4960442 XLETHOSY A 1E%608 ATEHTY JEBEEEL 2R 41543
Duposits froen related parties 1 amomiced cost 138,461 =031 07 804 351,148 13,712 LT 14,72% 386027
Dbt issued and oter barrowed furds & . (51 &16 EELLY . 443 458 444,072
Ergegenents by acceptences G094 a7.816 B3, 104 211,347 11516 . 11,518 113883
Other habalities £}148 18479 165,500 e 16 126,683 35,808 165 4587 159813
Pravisions for risks and charges ] 2 = = a 178 Mo 278 35 75350
Subardinazed debe - 163 408 51 - 419,594 149,554 430,165
TOTAL LIABILITIES 14342281  JI35BASF  FSATS0R ID2EEDMS 3,263,027 1 AD2BA4 EIS5911  IRAER408

i (6, 497478 (LAZL,00S  (2.460,%42 (10,080,432 4000008  BI¥5EAE 1174984 i,'.llﬁl,.li!
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51 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

2itA
Leis thaw 12 meachi Cher 12 months
{p Jia 3 ¥ moarhr Jio § fher

felwranss fm 1L wdTlion) I menth momthr ned pear Fawal ey 5 yruars Toeal Towal
ASSETS
Cash and balsrces with central banks 1,807,126 285 149 TR A9 2847 058 1,733,644 2615527 4349171 7238137
D from barks end fssrcisl institotors 2211, 851 1558 £53 G934 2305915 0247 3 E45%0 2 5]%35%
Legns b barks sad fosncial instisutons and reverse

repirchase agreaminis 558 651 91 805 524340 ) IR6824 10,231 = 122 1,181y
Finarsial assets given as collateral - - 12 18 1,187 . 1,387 1,495
Dierivabive finangial instruments bl | Qa7 136 1,524 L . s 1544
Finarcial assets at fuir value theowgh profit o kass %3 2,092 1519 4514 53,174 218157 291,331 295 ELS
Met loans and advences to cusomers at amonized coss 3180288 435345 1095302 4 T731EIS 1519227 1145579 2,655,806 7 399541
Wet loars and advences bo relsted parties o amortzed cost 1% 563 1,355 6,174 27,101 1273 6,801 8074 35275
Dieltors by soceplinces G4 543 Tan? 73,044 284704 - - - 244708
Firprdial masets a8 arnertieed o8 175,409 184,507 GTHI40 ) 40256 4805090 2371218 9176255 10,5185
Furiarial assits o Qo vabot theough other comprehensive

irome K . . . . 101,507 104,507 101,507
Property ard equ preng - - - . . 255,125 255,125 255,125
[ntangible aspets - - - - - 493 493 £53
Assels obteired in seftement of debi - - - - - 42 008 42,004 42006
Onker mmsets 23164 176 65,563 39,003 il 18,957 18,998 108 oL
TOTAL ASSETS RO8302T 1305886 3636270 13,025,153 B 142,224 E7E7003 1592521 2995441
LIABILITIES
Dot 1o gereral banks 12,300 1,422 9,153 23917 47038 it 441 94454 117412
D 1o banks ard finasisl nstnatons 337,001 67,118 113,515 517,644 138 657 28 243 226410 744554
Derivarive firarsial insonamenis 1,24 1,143 81 2445 - - s 2445
Customerns’ depesits 22 amaotized cost L4.011,45 3,022276 4655746 21 635947 2714026 150,405 29844301 2465439
Dieposits from releted parties ac amoraeed (o5 257,590 17,707 93,939 I35 136 25413 S0 26,513 425,749
Dbt sssied arnd other borrowed finds - - Gal% G135 - 444,554 444,584 445,159
Ergagemants by socepierces a8 842 4T 75,945 44705 - - - 44,708
Onker Ladulinies 57,155 1,479 65,134 124370 15,261 1534 21797 147,567
Prowigeons for risks and charges . - - - - 171,538 171,538 171,538
Subordinated detn . L63 - 163 ERE § I T ke 417400
TOTAL LIABILITIES 14801, 763 3085525 5015174 2300F£62 SEREANT 1414888 4568 404 3_'.I_]..1r_-_l;q:.

et (6,718,736 (1578618 (LATASM (9577279 5 188,607 7372115 03,550,912 583 443

52 CAPITAL

By maintaining an actively managed capital base, the Group’s objectives are o cover risks inherent in the
business, to retain sufficient financial strength and flexibility o support new business growth, and 10 meet
national and international regulatory capital requirements at all times. The adequacy of the Group’s capital is
manitored using, amoeng olher measures, the rules and ratios established by the Central Bank of Lebanon
according to the provisions of Basic Circular No 44, These ratios measure capital adequacy by comparing the
CGroup’s eligible capital with its statement of financial position asseis and ofi-balance sheel commitments at a
weighted amount to reflect their relative risk.

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued intermediary circular no, 436 by which it amended Basic
Circular 44 related to the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratios (CAR). These ratios are set to increase gradually
between December 2016 and December 2018 to reach 10.0%, 13.0% and 15.0% for Common Equity Tier 1
(CET1}. Tier | and Total CAR respectively in 2018, including a capital conservation buffer of 4.5% in 2018, The
following table shows the applicable regulatory capital ratios from end of 2015 to end of 2018:

Common Tier 1 capital

ralio Tier 1 capital ratio Total capital ratio
Year ended 31 December 2015 (*) 8.0% 10.0%% 1200
Year ended 31 December 2006 (*) £ 5% 11.0% 14.0%,
Year ended 31 December 2007 (*) 9.0% 12.0% 14.5%,
Year ended 31 December 2018 (*) 10.0% 13.0% 15.0%

(*)  Include Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB), This CCB, which will reach 4.5%% of risk-weighted assets by end of 2008, must be meat
thrawgh Comumon Equity Tier 1 capatal,
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52 CAPITAL {continued)

Risk weighted assets

As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, risk weighted assets are as follows:

Risk weighted assets

Regulatory capital

AL 3] December 2016 and 2015, regulatory capital consists of the following:

2016
LL milfion

16,269,178

2005
LE million

15,522 429

Tncluding profit for the year less

Common Equity Tier 1 capital
Additional Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital

Total capital

Capital adequacy ratio

Fxeluding profit for the year proposed dividends
2016 2013 2l 2015
LL milfion LL million LL million LL million
1,775,378 1627304 1,846,499 1,693,938
596,516 399,978 596,516 599,978
615,089 463,603 615,089 465,603
2,986,983 2,692,885 3,058,104 2,759,519

As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, capital adequacy ratio is as follows:

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio
Total Tier 1 capital ratio

Taotal capital ratio

fncluding profi for the year less

Excluding prafit for the year proposed dividends
2006 2013 2016 2043
10.91% 10L48% 11.35% 10.91%
14.58% 14.35% 15.02% 14.78%
18.36% 17.35% 18.80% 17.78%

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjusiments 1o it in the light of changes in cconomie
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to mainiain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to sharcholders, return capital 1o sharehalders or issue capital
securities. Mo changes were made in the objectives, palicies and processes from the previous years, however, they
are under consiant serutiny of the Board,
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53 DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

2016 2005
LL niififon L milfion

Dividends paid during the year

Equity dividends on ordinary shares LL 200 per share 113,103 113,103
Distributions to preferred shares — 2008 series USS 8.00 per share 24,224 24224
Distributions to preferred shares — 2009 series: USS 8.00 per share 24,224 2421
161,551 161,551
Less: dividends on treasury shares {491) (448)
161,060 161,103

Praposed for approval af Answal General Assembly
{rot recognized as a liahility as at 31 December)

Equity dividends on ordinary shares LL 200 per share 113,103 113,103
Distributions to preferred shares — 2008 series USS 8.00 per share 24,224 24,224
Distributions to preferred shares — 2009 series: USS 8.00 per share 24,224 24,224

161,551 161,551

A COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain deposits to related parties have been reclassified from “Customers” deposits al amortized cost” to
“Deposits from related parties at amortized cost” in the consolidated statement of financial position. Comparative
amounts of LL 4,033 million have been reclassified accordingly,
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